
 

 

 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

2 
 

INDEX 

Executive Summary 4 

1. INTRODUCTION 27 

2. THE COMPLAINT 29 

3. POWERS AND JURISDICTION OF THE PUBLIC PROTECTOR 37 

4. THE INVESTIGATION 45 

5. EVIDENCE AND INFORMATION OBTAINED 85 

6. THE ADMINISTRATIVE STANDARDS THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN COMPLIED 

WITH 284 

7. OBSERVATIONS 343 

8. REMEDIAL ACTION Error! Bookmark not defined.353 

9. MONITORING 355 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

3 
 

 

ñOne of the crucial elements of our constitutional vision is to make a decisive 

break from the unchecked abuse of State power and resources that was 

virtually institutionalised during the apartheid era. To achieve this goalā we 

adopted accountabilityā the rule of law and the supremacy of the Constitution 

as values of our constitutional democracy. For this reasonā public office-

bearers ignore their constitutional obligations at their peril. This is so because 

constitutionalismā accountability and the rule of law constitute the sharp and 

mighty sword that stands ready to chop the ugly head of impunity off its 

stiffened neck.  

 

It is against this backdrop that the following remarks must be understood: 

ñCertain values in the Constitution have been designated as foundational to 

our democracy. This in turn means that as pillar-stones of this democracyā 

they must be observed scrupulously. If these values are not observed and 

their precepts not carried out conscientiouslyā we have a recipe for a 

constitutional crisis of great magnitude. In a State predicated on a desire to 

maintain the rule of lawā it is imperative that one and all should be driven by a 

moral obligation to ensure the continued survival of our democracy.ò  And the 

role of these foundational values in helping to strengthen and sustain our 

constitutional democracy sits at the heart of this application.ò 

  

Economic Freedom Fighters v Speaker of the National Assembly and Others; 

Democratic Alliance v Speaker of the National Assembly and Others [2016] 

ZACC 11 
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Executive Summary 
 

(i) ñState of Captureò is my report in terms of section 182(1)(b) of the Constitution of the 

Republic of South Africa, 1996, and  section 3(1) of the Executive Members Ethics 

Act and section 8(1) of the Public Protector Act, 1994. 

 

(ii) This report relates to an investigation into complaints of alleged improper and 

unethical conduct by the president and other state functionaries relating to alleged 

improper relationships and involvement of the Gupta family in the removal and 

appointment of ministers and directors of State Owned Entities (SOEs) resulting in 

improper and possibly corrupt award of state contracts and benefits to the Gupta 

familyôs businesses. 

 

(iii) The Public Protector received three complaints in connection with the alleged 

improper and unethical conduct relating to the appointments of Cabinet Ministers, 

Directors and award of state contracts and other benefits to the Gupta linked 

companies.  

 

(iv) The investigation is conducted in terms of section 182 of the Constitution read with 

sections 6 and 7 of the Public Protector Act, 1994. 

 

(v) In essence the allegations are as follows: 

 

Key allegations 

 

(vi) The investigation emanates from complaints lodged against the President by Father 

S. Mayebe on behalf of the Dominican Order, a group of Catholic Priests, on 18 

March 2016 (The First Complainant);  Mr. Mmusi Maimane, the leader of the 

Democratic Alliance and Leader of the Opposition in Parliament on 18 March 2016 

(The Second Complainant), in terms of section 4 of the Executive Membersô Ethics 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

5 
 

Act, 82 of 1998 (EMEA); and a member of the public on 22 April 2016 (The third 

Complainant), whose name I have withheld. 

 

(vii) The complaints followed media reports alleging that the Deputy Minister of Finance, 

Hon. Mr. Mcebisi Jonas, was allegedly offered the post of Minister of Finance by the 

Gupta family long before his then colleague Mr. Nhlanhla Nene was abruptly 

removed by President Zuma on December 09, 2015. The post was allegedly offered 

to him by the Gupta family, which alleged has a long standing friendship with 

President Zumaôs family and a business partnership with his son Mr. Duduzane 

Zuma. The offer allegedly took place at the Gupta residence in Saxonwold, City of 

Johannesburg Gauteng. The allegation was that Ajay Gupta, the oldest of three 

Gupta brothers who are business partners of President Zumaôs son, Mr. Duduzane 

Zuma,  in a company called Oakbay, among others, offered the position of Minister of 

Finance to Deputy Minister Jonas and must have influenced the subsequent removal 

of Minister Nene and his replacement with Mr. Des Van Rooyen on 09 December 

2015, who was also abruptly shifted to the Cooperative Governance and Traditional 

Affairs portfolio 4 days later, following a public outcry. 

 

(viii) The media reports also alleged that Ms. Vytjie Mentor was offered the post of 

Minister for Public Enterprises in exchange for cancelling the South African Airways 

(SAA) route to India and that President Zuma was at the Gupta residence when the 

offer was made and immediately advised about the same by Ms. Mentor. The media 

reports alleged that the relationship between the President and the Gupta family had 

evolved into ñstate captureò underpinned by the Gupta family having power to 

influence the appointment of Cabinet Ministers and Directors in Boards of SOEs and 

leveraging those relationships to get preferential treatment in state contracts, access 

to state provided business finance and in the award of business licenses. 

 

(ix) Specific allegations were made and these are detailed below. 
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(x) The First Complainant, relying on media reports, requested an investigation into: 

 

(a) The veracity of allegations that the Deputy Minister of Finance Mr Jonas and 

Ms Mentor (presumably as chairpersons of the Portfolio Committee of Public 

Enterprises) were offered Cabinet positions by the Gupta family; 

 

(b) Whether the appointment of Mr Van Rooyen to Minister of Finance was known by the 

Gupta family beforehand; 

 
(c) Media allegation that two Gupta aligned senior advisors were appointed to the 

National Treasury, alongside Mr Van Rooyen, without proper procedure; and 

 
(d) All business dealings of the Gupta family with government departments and SOEs to 

determine whether there were irregularities, undue enrichment, corruption and 

undue influence in the awarding of contracts, mining licenses, government 

advertising in the New Age newspaper, and any other governmental services. 

 

(xi) The second Complainant also relying on the same media reports, requested an 

investigation into the Presidentôs role in the alleged offer of Cabinet positions to 

Deputy Minister Jonas and MP, Ms. Mentor, and that the investigation should look 

into the Presidentôs conduct in relation to the alleged corrupt offers and Gupta 

family involvement in the appointment of Cabinet Ministers and Directors of SOE 

Boards. 

 

(xii) In his complaint, Mr. Maimane stated amongst other things that:  

 
ñSection 2.3 of the Code of Ethics states that Members of the Executive may not: 

 

(a) Willfully mislead the legislature to which they are accountableé(c) act in a way 

that is inconsistent with their position; (d) use their position or any information 
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entrusted to them, to enrich themselves or improperly benefit any other 

person...ò (my emphasis) 

 

(b) It is our contention that President Jacob Zuma may have breached the 

Executive Ethics Code by (i) exposing himself to any situation involving the 

risk of a conflict between their official responsibilities and their private 

interests; (ii) acted in a way that is inconsistent with his position and (iii) 

use their position or any information entrusted to them, to enrich 

themselves or improperly benefit any other personò, he further stated. (my 

emphasis). 

 

(xiii) The third complaint was also based on media reports but only those alleging that the 

Cabinet had decided to get involved in holding banks accountable for withdrawing 

banking facilities to Gupta owned companies. The Complainant wanted to know if it 

was appropriate for the Cabinet to assist a private business and on what grounds 

was that happening. He asked if corruption was not involved and specifically asked if 

such matters should not be dealt with by the National Consumer Commission or the 

Banking Ombudsman. 

 

(xiv) While the investigation was conducted in terms of section 182 of the Constitution of 

the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (the Constitution), which confers the Public 

Protector power to investigate, report and take appropriate remedial action in 

response to alleged improper or prejudicial conduct in state affairs,  the alleged 

improper conduct of  President Zuma  involving potential violation of the Executive 

Ethics Code, was principally investigated under section 3(1) of the Executive Ethics 

Code read with section 6 of  the Public Protector Act. The provisions of the 

Prevention and Combatting of Corrupt Activities Act were invoked with regard to 

allegations regarding the alleged offer of a Ministerial position by the Gupta family to 

Ms. Mentor in return for cancelling the India route of the SAA, in the vicinity of 

President Zuma, and related allegations. Deputy Minister Jonas also alleged that the 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

8 
 

position offered was on condition that he works with the Gupta family and that too is 

in contravention of the Prevention and Combating of Corrupt Activities Act 12 of 2004 

(PRECCA). The provisions of the Protected Disclosures Act, 26 of 2000 were also 

taken into account. 

 

(xv) I decided to  combine the  complaints and have since conducted an investigation 

under section 182 of the Constitution which confers on the Public Protector the power 

to investigate any alleged or suspected improper or prejudicial conduct, to report on 

that conduct and to take appropriate remedial action; and in terms of section 3(1) of 

the EMEA which places a peremptory duty on the Public Protector to investigate 

allegations of unethical conduct or violations of the Executive Ethics Code by the 

President and other Members of the Executive. The Complaint is also investigated in 

terms of section 7(1) of the Public Protector Act, which regulates the Public 

Protectorôs exercise of her/his investigative powers.  

 

(xvi) Section 182(1) provides that:  

 
The Public Protector has the power, as regulated by national legislation- 

(a) to investigate any conduct in state affairs, or in the public administration in any 

sphere of government, that is alleged or suspected to be improper or to result in 

any impropriety or prejudice; 

(b) to report on that conduct; and 

(c) to take appropriate remedial action. 

 
(xvii) Section 3(1) of the EMEA further provides that: 

 

The Public Protector must investigate any alleged breach of the code of ethics on 

receipt of a complaint contemplated in section 4. 
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(xviii) The investigation was principally undertaken because of the Second Complainant 

having lodged his complaint under the EMEA, which does not allow the Public 

Protector discretionary power to consider whether or not to investigate a matter 

falling under his/her jurisdiction.  Given that the Executive Membersô Ethics Act 

requires investigations under it to be concluded within 30 days, the investigation was 

given priority. It was also given priority because of the allegations having the potential 

of undermining public trust in the Executive and SOEs. Additional resources were 

requested from government with a view to handling it like a Commission of Inquiry 

and R1.5 million was allocated by the Department of Justice and Correctional 

Services for this purpose. 

 

(xix) The investigation process was informed by the provisions of sections 6 and 7 of the 

Public Protector Act, 1994 (Public Protector Act). Section 6(4) recognises the power 

of the Public Protector to conduct own initiative investigations while section 6(5)(a) 

and (b) of the Public Protector Act specifically recognises the Public Protectorôs 

investigate any maladministration in connection with the affairs of any institution in 

which the state is the majority or controlling shareholder or of any public entity as 

defined in section 1 of the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA); and 

abuse or unjustifiable exercise of power or unfair, capricious, discourteous or other 

improper conduct. Section 7 details the processes that may be followed, which 

involves an inquisitorial process that includes requests for information, subpoenas 

and interviews.  

 

(xx) The complaint relates to allegations of improper conduct in state affairs and unethical 

conduct by the President of the Republic, and other state functionaries and 

accordingly falls within my ambit as the Public Protector. None of the parties 

challenged the jurisdiction of the Public Protector. 

 

(xxi) Based on an analysis of the complaint, the following issues were identified as 

relevant for investigation: 
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Alleged breach of the Executive Member Ethics Act, 1998 

 

a) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to be involved in the 

process of removal and appointment of the Minister of Finance in December 

2015; 

 

b) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to engage or be 

involved in the process of removal and appointing of various members of the 

Cabinet; 

 

c) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to be involved in the 

process of appointing members of Boards of Directors of SOEs; 

 

d) Whether President Zuma has enabled or turned a blind eye, in violation of the 

Executive Ethics Code, to alleged corrupt practices by the Gupta family and 

his son in relation to allegedly linking appointments to quid pro quo conditions; 

 

e) Whether President Zuma and other Cabinet members improperly interfered in 

the relationship between banks and Gupta owned companies thus giving 

preferential treatment to such companies on a matter that should have been 

handled by independent regulatory bodies; 

 

f) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code exposed himself to any situation involving the risk of conflict between his 

official duties and his private interest or used his position or information 

entrusted to him to enrich himself and or enabled businesses owned by the 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

11 
 

Gupta family and his son to be given preferential treatment in the award of 

state contracts, business financing and trading licences; and 

 

g) Whether anyone was prejudiced by the conduct of President Zuma. 

 
Awarding of contracts by certain organs of state to entities linked to the Gupta family 

 

a) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the appointment or 

removal of Ministers and Boards of Directors of SOEs; 

 
b) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the award of state 

contracts or tenders to Gupta linked companies or persons; 

 
c) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the extension of state 

provided business financing facilities to Gupta linked companies or persons; 

 
d) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with exchange of gifts in 

relation to Gupta linked companies or persons; and 

 
e) Whether any person/entity was prejudiced due to the conduct of the said 

state functionary or organ of state.   

 
Two Phased Inquisitorial Investigation Process 

 
(xxii) The approach to the investigation was an inquisitorial process which asked questions 

raised about the Presidentôs conduct: What happened? What should have 

happened? Is there a discrepancy between what happened and what should have 
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happened and if there is a discrepancy, is it unjustifiable and material in the 

circumstances and if the Presidentôs conduct qualifies to be regarded as improper 

conduct as alleged. The same approach was taken in relation to allegation of 

suspected conduct regarding awarding of tenders by SOEs and other organs of state 

and extension of other benefits to Gupta owned companies. 

 

(xxiii)  I must also indicate that the investigation has been divided into two phases and that 

the first phase of the investigation did not touch on the award of licenses to the Gupta 

family and superficially touched on state financing of the Gupta-Zuma business while 

only selecting a few state contracts. The division of work was to accommodate the 

time and resource limitations by addressing the pressing questions threatening to 

erode public trust in the Executive and SOEs while mapping the process for the 

second and final phase of the investigation. 

 

(xxiv) The investigation process included correspondence with key parties implicated by the 

allegations and potential witnesses, with the President having been the first to be 

advised by myself in writing between March and April 2016, of the allegations being 

made and provided with copies of the first two complaints immediately after the 

complaints were lodged. President Zuma was also advised on 22 April 2016 and 

before the expiry of the mandatory 30 days for the completion of the investigation 

that it was not going to be possible to conclude the investigation within 30 days due 

to resources and communication challenges. 

 

(xxv) Interviews were conducted with identified key witnesses, commencing with alleged 

whistle-blowers, Deputy Minister of Finance Mr Jonas and Ms Mentor, who confirmed 

their status as whistle-blowers. The investigation team also interviewed Mr Maseko, 

who was also identified by the media as a whistle-blower. Interviews were also 

conducted with several other ministers and other selected witnesses. Documents 

were requested from appropriate persons and institutions and analysed and 

evaluated together with the oral evidence to establish if any of the allegations could 
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be corroborated. Towards the conclusion of the investigation persons who appeared 

to be implicated by the evidence collected by then were served with notices in terms 

of section 7(9) of the Public Protector Act to alert them of such evidence and the 

potential of adverse findings and afford them the opportunity to respond. 

 
(xxvi) In that regard the following people were issued with notices in terms of section 7(9) of 

the Public Protect Act: 

 
a) President Zuma on 2 October 2016; 

 
b) Dr Ben Ngubane and the Board of Eskom on 4 October 2016; 

 
c) Mr D. Zuma on 4 October 2016; 

 
d) Mr Ajay Gupta on 4 October 2016; 

 
e) Tegeta on 7 October 2016; 

 
f) Minister Lynne Brown on 4 October 2016; 

 
g) Minister Van Rooyen on 10 October 2016; and 

 
h) Minister Mosebenzi Zwane 5 October 2016. 

 

(xxvii) Regarding the standard that was expected of President Zuma as the President of 

South Africa and the sole custodian of Executive Authority of the republic, the 

provisions of sections 96, 195 and 237 of the Constitution were taken into account 

together with the provisions of the Executive Ethics Code, Section 6 of the Public 

Protector Act and general principles of good governance as outlined below. 

 

(xxviii) The investigation process commenced by notification of President Zuma of the 

complaints received and that I intended to conduct a formal investigation into the 

complaints lodged. I also invited President Zuma to comment on the allegations. My 

investigation was conducted through meetings and interviews with the Complainants 

and witnesses as well as inspection of all relevant documents and analysis and 

application of all relevant laws, policies and related prescripts, followed.  
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(xxix) Key laws and policies taken into account to help me determine if there had been any 

improper and unethical conduct by the President and/or officials of the implicated 

State Organs due to their alleged inappropriate relationship with members of the 

Gupta family were principally those governing the conduct of members of the 

Executive (Executive Members Ethics Act, 1998 and Executive Ethics Code), the 

Constitution, policies governing procurement by the State and its organs, the Public 

Finance Management Act, the Companies Act King III Report on Corporate 

Governance, the Prevention and Combatting of Corrupt Activities Act and relevant 

National Treasury prescripts. 

 

(xxx) Having considered the evidence uncovered during the investigation against the 

relevant regulatory framework, I make the following observations: 

 

1. Regarding whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the 

Executive Ethics Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to 

be involved in the process of removal and appointment of the Minister of 

Finance in December 2015: 

 

(a) President Zuma was required to select and appoint Ministers lawfully and 

in compliance with the Executive Ethics Code.   

 

(b) It is worrying that the the Gupta family was aware or may have been aware 

that Minister  Nene was removed 6 weeks after Deputy Minister Jonas 

advised him that he had been allegedly offered a job by the Gupta family in 

exchange for extending favours to their family business. 

 
(c) Equally worrying is that Minister Van Rooyen who replaced Minister Nene 

can be placed at the Saxonwold area on at least seven occasions including 

on the day before he was announced as Minister. This looks anomalous 
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given that at the time he was a Member of Parliament based in Cape 

Town. 

 
(d) Furthermore one of the two advisers he brought with to National Treasury 

on his first day at work, 11 October 2015 had contact with someone at the 

Saxonwold area the day before.    

 
(e) The coincidence is a source of great concern.  

 
(f) Another worrying coincidence is that Minister Nene was removed after Mr 

Jonas advised him that he was going to be removed.  

 
(g) If the Gupta family knew about the intended appointment it would appear 

that information was shared then in violation of section 2.3(e) of the 

Executive Ethics Code which prohibits members of the executive from the 

use of information received in confidence in the course of their duties or 

otherwise than in connection with the discharge of their duties. 

 
(h) The provision of Section 2.3(c) which prohibits a member of the Executive 

from acting in a way that is inconsistent with their position. There might 

even be a violation of Section 2.3(e) of the Executive Ethics Code which 

prohibits a member of the Executive from using information received in 

confidence in the course of their duties otherwise than in connection with 

the discharge of their duties. 

 
(i) In view of the fact that the allegation that was made public included Mr 

Jonas alleging that the offer for a position of Minister was linked to him 

being required to extend favours to the Gupta family. Failure to verify such 

allegation may infringe the provisions of Section 34 of Prevention and 

Combatting of Corrupt Activities Act, 12 of 2004 which places a duty on 

persons in positions of authority who knows or ought reasonably to have 

known or suspected that any other person has committed an offence under 
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the Act must report such knowledge or suspicion or cause such knowledge 

or suspicion to be reported to any police official. 

 

2. Regarding whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the 

Executive Ethics Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his 

son, to engage or to be involved in the process of removal and 

appointing of various members of Cabinet 

 
(a) There seems to be no evidence of action taken by anyone to verify Ms 

Mentorôs allegation(s). If this observation is true, the provisions of Section 

195 of the Constituion as interpreted in Khumalo v MEC for Education, 

KZN would not have been complied with. If this is the case, the provision of 

Section 2.3(c) which prohibits a member of the Executive from acting in a 

way that is inconsistent with their position, is applicable. There might even 

be a violation of Section 2.3(e) of the Executive Ethics Code which 

prohibits a member of the Executive from using information received in 

confidence in the course of their duties otherwise than in connection with 

the discharge of their duties. In view of the fact that the allegation that was 

made public included Mr Jonas alleging that the offer for a position of 

Minister was linked to him being required to extend favours to the Gupta 

family, failure to verify such allegation may infringe the provisions of 

Section 34 of Prevention and Combatting of Corrupt Activities Act, 12 of 

2004 which places a duty on persons in positions of authority who knows 

or ought reasonably to have known or suspected that any other person has 

committed an offence under the Act must report such knowledge or 

suspicion or cause such knowledge or suspicion to be reported to any 

police official. 

 
 

3. Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive 

Ethics Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to be 
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involved in the process of appointing members of Board of Directors of 

SOEs 

 

(a) A similar duty is imposed and possibly violated in relation to the allegations 

that were made by Mr Maseko about his removal. The same to applies to 

persistent allegations regarding an alleged cozy relationship between Mr 

Brian Molefe and the Gupta family. In this case it is worth noting that such 

allegations are backed by evidence and a source of concern that nothing 

seems to have been done regardless of the duty imposed by Section 195 

of the Constitution on relevant State functionaries. 

 

(b) While not relevant to the alleged influence of the Gupta family, the 

allegations made by Ms Hogan also deserve a closer look to the extent 

that they suggest Executive and party interference in the management of 

SOEs and appointments thereto. 

 

4. Whether President Zuma has enabled or turned a blind eye, in violation 

of the Executive Ethics Code, to alleged corrupt practices by the Gupta 

family and his son in relation to allegedly linking appointments to quid 

pro quo conditions 

 

(a) There seems to be no evidence showing that Mr Jonasô allegations that he 

was offered money and a ministerial post in exchange for favours were 

ever investigated by the Executive. Only the African National Congress 

and Parliament seemed to have considered this worthy of examination or 

scrutiny.  

 

(b) If this observation is correct then the provisions of section 2.3 (c) of the 

Executive Ethics Code may have been infringed as alleged. 
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5. Regarding whether President Zuma and other Cabinet members 

improperly interfered in the relationship between banks and Gupta 

owned companies thus giving preferential treatment to such companies 

on a matter that should have been handled by independent regulatory 

bodies; 

 
(a) Cabinet appears to have taken an extraordinary and unprecedented step 

regarding intervention into what appears to be a dispute between a private 

company co owned by the Presidentôs friends and his son. This needs to 

be looked at in relation to a possible conflict of interest between the 

President as head of state and his private interest as a friend and father as 

envisaged under section 2.3(c) of the Executive Ethics Code which 

regulates conflict of interest and section 195 of the Constitution which 

requires a high level of professional ethics. Sections 96(2)(b) and (c) of the 

Constitution are also relevant. 

 

6. Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive 

Ethics Code exposed himself to any situation involving the risk of 

conflict between his official duties and his private interest or use his 

position or information entrusted to him to enrich himself and 

businesses owned by the Gupta family and his son to be given 

preferential treatment in the award of state contracts, business financing 

and trading licences 

 

(a) The allegations raised by both Messrs Jonas and Maseko are relevant as 

is action taken and/or not taken in relation thereto. 

 

7. Whether anyone was prejudiced by the conduct of President Zuma 

 

(a) Deputy Minister Jonas would be regarded as a liar and publicly humiliated 

unless he is vindicated in his public statement that Mr Ajay Gupta offered 
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the position of Minister of Finance to him with the knowledge of President 

Zuma who subsequently denied such offer. Consequently the people of 

South Africa, who Deputy Minister Jonas took into his confidence in 

revealing this, would lose faith in open, democratic and accountable 

government if President Zumaôs denials are proven to be false. 

 

8. Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the appointment or 

removal of Ministers and Boards of Directors of SOEs 

 

(a) It appears that the Board at Eskom was improperly appointed and not in 

line with the spirit of the King III report on good Corporate Governance. 

 

(b) Even though certain conflicts may have arisen after the Board was 

appointed, there should have been a mechanism in place to deal with the 

conflicts as they arose and managed actual or perceived bias. 

 
(c) A Board appointed to an SOE, is expected to act in the best interests of the 

Republic of South Africa at all times and it appears that the Board may 

have failed to do so. 

 
(d) It appears as though no action was taken on the part of the Minister of 

Public Enterprise as Government stakeholder to prevent these apparent 

conflicts. 

 

9. Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person 

acted unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the award of 

state contracts or tenders to Gupta  linked companies or persons 

 

(a) Minister Zwaneôs conduct with regards to his flight itinerary to Switzerland 

appears to be irregular. This may not be in line with the PFMA. 
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(b) It appears that Minister Zwaneôs conduct may not be in line with section 

96(2) of the Constitution and section 2 of the Executive Members Ethics 

Act. 

 
(c) In light of the extensive financial analysis conducted, it appears that the 

sole purpose of awarding contracts to Tegeta to supply Arnot Power 

Station, was made solely for the purposes of funding Tegeta and enabling 

Tegeta to purchase all shares in OCH. The only entity which appears to 

have benefited from Eskomôs decisions with regards to OCM/OCH was 

Tegeta which appears to have been enabled to purchase all shares held in 

OCH. The favourable payment terms given to Tegeta (7 days) need to be 

examined further. OCM clearly had 30 day payment terms with Tegeta for 

the supply of coal to Arnot Power Station, and Eskom appears to have 

been aware of this. It also appears that Tegeta did not meet all its 

obligations to OCM as OCM was owed R 148,027,783.91 by Tegeta as at 

31 July 2016 and an amount of R 289,842,376.00 as at 31 August 2016. 

 
(d) This may amount to a possible contravention of section 38 and 51 of the 

PFMA which states that a Board needs to prevent fruitless and wasteful 

expenditure, which in turn is an act of financial misconduct under section 

83(1)(a) of the PFMA and subject to the penalties under section 86(2) of 

the PFMA. 

 

(e) It appears that the Eskom Board did not exercise a duty of care, which may 

constitute a violation of section 50 of the PFMA. 

 
(f) Eskomôs awarding of the initial contracts to Tegeta to supply coal to the 

Majuba Power Station will form part of the next phase of the investigation. 
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10. Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person 

acted unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the 

extension of state provided business financing facilities to Gupta  linked 

companies or persons; 

 

(a) The prepayment to Tegeta in the amount R659 558 079.00 (six hundred 

and fifty nine million five hundred and fifty eight thousand seventy nine 

rand) inclusive of VAT, may not be in line with the PFMA. This is evidenced 

in the BRPôs section 34 report in which it is stated that the prepayment was 

not used to fund OCM, it is further emphasised in the financial analysis 

which shows the prepayment was used entirely for the purposes of funding 

the purchase of all shares in OCH. On 11 April 2016, Tegeta informed the 

BRPôs and Glencore, who in turn informed the Loan Consortium that they 

were R600 million short, on the very same day, Eskom held an urgent 

Board Tender Committee meeting at 21:00 in the evening to approve the 

prepayment which was R659 558 079.00 (six hundred and fifty nine million 

five hundred and fifty eight thousand seventy nine rand and 38 cents) 

inclusive of VAT. 

 

(b) The Eskom Board does not appear to have exercised a duty of care or 

acted, which may constitute a violation of section 50 of the PFMA. 

 
(c) Tegetaôs conduct and misrepresentations made to the public with regards 

to the prepayment and the actual reason for the prepayment could amount 

to fraud. Furthermore, the shareholders of Tegeta (Oakbay, Mabengela, 

Fidelity, Accurate and Elgasolve) pledged their shares to Eskom in respect 

of the prepayment and thus knew of the nature of the transaction.  

 
(d) It appears that the manner in which the rehabilitation funds are currently 

being handled with the Bank of Baroda, are in contravention of section 24P 

of NEMA as well as section 7 of the financial regulations which provide that 
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that the financial provision must be ñequal to the sum of the actual costs of 

implementing the plans and report contemplated in regulation 6 and 

regulation 11(1) for a period of at least 10 years forthwithò. This cannot be 

guaranteed by the Bank of Baroda or Tegeta as the funds are consistently 

moved around between accounts as well as other branches, Tegeta 

accordingly may have contravened section 7 of the financial regulations 

which is an offence under section 18 of the financial regulations which in 

turn is liable to a fine not exceeding R10 million or to imprisonment not 

exceeding 10 years or to both.  

 
(e) According to the Financial Provision Regulations (ñFinancial 

Regulationsò), where an applicant or holder of a right or permit makes use 

of the financial vehicle as contemplated in regulation 9(5) read with 8(1) 

(b), any interest earned on the deposit shall first be used to defray bank 

charges in respect of that account and thereafter accumulate and form part 

of the financial provision. In neither of the funds held in the Bank of Baroda 

accounts was the interest reinvested for the purposes of capital growth. 

The interest is transferred back into the Bank of Baroda account and 

utilised. It seems as if the interest serves as a direct benefit to the Bank of 

Baroda and not the owner of the invested funds as it would be in terms of a 

normal capital investment. Tegeta may have contravened section 9(5) of 

the financial regulations. 

 
By not treating the rehabilitations funds in the prescribed manner and for 

the prescribed purpose, Tegeta is in contravention of section 37A of the 

Income Tax Act. The Commissioner may include an amount equal to twice 

the market value of all property held in the rehabilitation fund, on the date 

of contravention, in the rehabilitation fund's taxable income, and include the 

amount that the mining company contributed to the rehabilitation fund (and 

claimed a tax deduction for), in the mining company's income, to the extent 
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that the property in the rehabilitation fund was directly or indirectly derived 

from cash paid to the rehabilitation fund. 

 
(f) The Commissioner may include an amount equal to twice the market value 

of all property held in the rehabilitation fund, on the date of contravention, 

in the rehabilitation fund's taxable income, and include the amount that the 

mining company contributed to the rehabilitation fund (and claimed a tax 

deduction for), in the mining company's income, to the extent that the 

property in the rehabilitation fund was directly or indirectly derived from 

cash paid to the rehabilitation fund. This is potentially a sum of double the 

amount of R280.000.000.00 which was available in the KRTF and a sum of 

double the amount R1,469.916.933.63 which was available in the ORTF. 

 
(g) The Bank of Baroda in relation to the purchase of all shares in OCH by 

Tegeta and the rehabilitation fund. This will form part of the next phase of 

the investigation. 

 

11. Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person 

acted unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with exchange of 

gifts in relation to Gupta linked companies or persons;  

 

(a) This issue will be attended to further in the next phase of the investigation. 

 

12. Whether any person/entity was prejudiced due to the conduct of the 

SOE. 

 

(a) Eskom may have numerous methods caused prejudiced to Glencore. 

Glencore appears to have been severely prejuidiced by Eskomôs actions in 

refusing to sign a new agreement with them for the supply of coal to 

Hendrina Power Station, this was not in line with previous discussions held 

by Glencore with Eskom, furthermore, it is unclear as to why approval was 
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needed from the Acting Chief Executive before the agreement was signed, 

as the necessary approvals appear to already have been obtained. It 

appears that the conduct of Eskom, was solely for the purposes of forcing 

OCM/OCH into business rescue and financial distress. 

 

(b) It appears that the conduct of Eskom was solely to the benefit of Tegeta, in 

that they forced the sale of OCH to Tegeta by stating that OCM could be 

sold alone. Thereafter, it appears, they have allowed Tegeta to proceed 

with the sale of a portion of OCH in the form of the Optimum Coal 

Terminal. This may constitute a contravention of section 50(2) of the PFMA 

in that they acted solely for the benefit of one company. 

 

(xxxi) The appropriate remedial action I am taking in pursuit of section 182(1)(c) of 

the Constitution, with the view of placing the Complainant as close as 

possible to where he would have been had the improper conduct or 

maladministration not occurred, while addressing systemic procurement 

management deficiencies in the Department, is the following: 

 

(a) The investigation has proven that the extent of issues it needs to traverse and 

resources necessary to execute it is incapable of being executed fully by the 

Public Protector. This was foreshadowed at the commencement of the 

investigation when the Public Protector wrote to government requesting for 

resources for a special investigation similar to a commission of inquiry 

overseen by the Public Protector. This investigation has been hamstrung by 

the late release which caused the investigation to commence later than 

planned. The situation was compounded by the inadequacy of the allocated 

funds (R1.5 Million). 

 

(b) The President has the power under section 84(2)(f) of the Constitution to 

appoint commissions of enquiry however, in the EFF Vs Speaker of 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

25 
 

Parliament the President said that: ñI could not have carried out the evaluation 

myself lest I be accused of being judge and jury in my own caseò. 

 
(c) The President to appoint, within 30 days, a commission of inquiry headed by a 

judge solely selected by the Chief Justice who shall provide one name to the 

President.  

 

(d) The judge to be given the power to appoint his/her own staff and to investigate 

all the issues using the record of this investigation and the report as a starting 

point. 

 
(e) The President to ensure that the commission is adequately resourced, in 

conjuction with the National Treasury.  

 

(f) The commission of inquiry to be given powers of evidence collection that are 

no less than that of the Public Protector.  

 

(g) The commission of inquiry to complete its task and to present the report with 

findings and recommendations to the President within 180 days. The 

President shall submit a copy with an indication of his/her intentions regarding 

the implementation to Parliament within 14 days of releasing the report,  

 

(h) Parliament to review, within 180 days, the Executive Membersô Ethics Act to 

provide better guidance regarding integrity, including avoidance and 

management of conflict of interest. This should clearly define responsibilities 

of those in authority regarding a proper response to whistleblowing and 

whistleblowers. Consideration should also be given to a transversal code of 

conduct for all employees of the State. 

  

(i) The President to ensure that the Executive Ethics Code is updated in line with 

the review of the Executive Membersô Ethics Act. 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

26 
 

 

(j) The Public Protector, in terms of section 6 (4) (c) (i) of the Public Protector 

Act, brings to the notice of the National Prosecuting Authority and the DPCI 

those matters identified in this report where it appears crimes have been 

committed. 
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INVESTIGATION INTO COMPLAINTS OF ALLEGED IMPROPER AND UNETHICAL 

CONDUCT BY THE PRESIDENT AND OTHER STATE FUNCTIONARIES RELATING TO 

ALLEGED IMPROPER RELATIONSHIPS AND INVOLVEMENT OF THE GUPTA FAMILY 

IN THE REMOVAL AND APPOINTMENT OF MINISTERS AND DIRECTORS OF SOES 

RESULTING IN IMPROPER AND POSSIBLY CORRUPT AWARD OF STATE 

CONTRACTS AND BENEFITS TO THE GUPTA FAMILYôS BUSINESSES 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. ñState of Captureò is my report in terms of section 182(1)(b) of the 

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (the Constitution) and 

section 8(1) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 (the Public Protector Act) and 

Section 3(1) of the Executive Members Act, 1998. 

 

1.2. The report is submitted in terms of section 8(1) of the Public Protector Act, to: 

 

a) The Speaker of the National Assembly, the Honourable Baleka 

Mbete; 

 

b) The Director General in the Presidency and Secretary of Cabinet, 

Dr Cassius Lubisi; 

 
 
c) Board of Directors of Eskom SOC Limited; and 

 

d) The Minister of the Department of Public Enterprises, Ms Lynne 

Brown. 

 

1.3. A copy of the report will also be provided to the Complainants in terms of 

section 8(3) of the Public Protector Act, namely: 
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a) Father S Mayebe; and 

 

b) Honourable Mmusi Maimane, MP. 

 

1.4. A copy of the report will further be provided to the following persons in terms 

of Section 8(3) of the Public Protector Act: 

 

a) The President of the Republic His Excellency J.G Zuma; 

b) Mr D. Zuma; 

c) Mr Ajay Gupta; 

d) Mr Atul Gupta; 

e) Mr Rajesh Gupta; 

f) Mr Hlongwane; 

g) Minister Zwane; 

h) Minister Van Rooyen; and 

i) Minister Mbalula. 

 

1.5. A copy of the report will further be provided to the following persons in terms 

of Section 6(4)(c)(i) of the Public Protector Act: 

 

a) The National Director of Public Prosecutions, Adv Shaun Abrahams; 

 

b) The Head of the Directorate for Priority Crimes Investigation, Brig. 

Berning Ntlemeza 

 

1.6. This report relates to an investigation into complaints of alleged improper and 

unethical conduct by the president and other state functionaries relating to 

alleged improper relationships and involvement of the Gupta family in the 

removal and appointment of ministers and directors of State Owned Entities 
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(SOEs) resulting in improper and possibly corrupt award of state contracts 

and benefits to the Gupta familyôs businesses. 

 

2. THE COMPLAINT  

 

2.1. The Public Protector received three complaints in connection with the alleged 

improper and unethical conduct relating to the appointments of Cabinet Ministers. 

 

2.2. The investigation was conducted in terms of section 182 of the Constitution read 

with sections 6 and 7 of the Public Protector Act, 1994. 

 

2.3. In essence the allegations are as follows: 

 

Key allegations 

 

2.4. The investigation emanates from complaints lodged against the President by Father 

S. Mayebe on behalf of the Dominican Order, a group of Catholic Priests, on 18 

March 2016 (The First Complainant);  Mr. Mmusi Maimane, the leader of the 

Democratic Alliance and Leader of the Opposition in Parliament on 18 March 2016 

(The Second Complainant), in terms of section 4 of the Executive Membersô Ethics 

Act, 82 of 1998 (EMEA); and a member of the public on 22 April 2016 (The third 

Complainant), whose name I have withheld. 

 

2.5. The complaints followed media reports alleging that the Deputy Minister of Finance, 

Hon. Mr. Mcebisi Jonas, was allegedly offered the post of Minister of Finance by the 

Gupta family long before his then colleague Mr. Nhlanhla Nene was abruptly 

removed by the President on December 09, 2015. The post was offered to him by 

the Gupta family, which has a long standing friendship with President Zumaôs family 

and a business partnership with his son Mr. Duduzane Zuma. The offer took place 

at the Gupta residence in Saxonwold, City of Joburg Gauteng. The allegation was 
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that Atul Gupta, the oldest of three Gupta brothers who are business partners of 

President Zumaôs son, Mr. Duduzane Zuma,  in a company called Oakbay, among 

others, offered the position of Minister of Finance to Deputy Minister Jonas and 

must have influenced the subsequent removal of Minister Nene and his 

replacement with Mr. Des Van Rooyen on 09 December 2015, who was also 

abruptly shifted to the Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs portfolio 4 

days later, following a public outcry. 

 

2.6. The media reports also alleged that Ms. Vytjie Mentor was offered the post of 

Minister for Public Enterprises in exchange for cancelling the South African Airways 

(SAA) route to India and that President Zuma was at the Gupta residence when the 

offer was made and immediately advised about the same by Ms. Mentor. The media 

reports alleged that the relationship between the President and the Gupta family 

had evolved into ñstate captureò underpinned by the Gupta family having power to 

influence the appointment of Cabinet Ministers and Directors in Boards of SOEs 

and leveraging those relationships to get preferential treatment in state contracts, 

access to state provided business finance and in the award of business licenses. 

 

2.7. Specific allegations were made, which are detailed below. 

 

2.8. The First Complainant, relying on media reports, requested an investigation into: 

 

a) The veracity of allegations that the Deputy Minister of Finance Mr Jonas and 

Ms Mentor (presumably as chairpersons of the Portfolio Committee of Public 

Enterprises) were offered Cabinet positions by the Gupta family; 

 

b) Whether the appointment of Mr Van Rooyen to Minister of Finance was known 

by the Gupta family beforehand; 
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c) Media allegation that two Gupta aligned senior advisors were appointed to the 

National Treasury, alongside Mr Van Rooyen, without proper procedure; and 

 

d) All business dealings of the Gupta family with government departments and 

SOEs to determine whether there were irregularities, undue enrichment, 

corruption and undue influence in the awarding of contracts, mining 

licenses, government advertising in the New Age newspaper, and any 

other governmental services. 

 

2.9. The second Complainant also relying on the same media reports, requested an 

investigation into the Presidentôs role in the alleged offer of Cabinet positions to 

Deputy Minister Jonas and MP, Ms. Mentor, and that the investigation should look 

into the Presidentôs conduct in relation to the alleged corrupt offers and Gupta family 

involvement in the appointment of Cabinet Ministers and Directors of SOE Boards. 

 

2.10. In his complaint, Mr. Maimane stated amongst other things that:  

 
ñSection 2.3 of the Code of Ethics states that Members of the Executive may not: 

 

(a) Willfully mislead the legislature to which they are accountableé(c) act in a way 

that is inconsistent with their position; (d) use their position or any information 

entrusted to them, to enrich themselves or improperly benefit any other person...ò 

 

(b) It is our contention that President Jacob Zuma may have breached the 

Executive Ethics Code by (i) exposing himself to any situation involving the risk 

of a conflict between their official responsibilities and their private interests; (ii) 

acted in a way that is inconsistent with his position and (iii) use their position or 

any information entrusted to them, to enrich themselves or improperly benefit any 

other personò, he further stated. 
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2.11. The third complaint was also based on media reports but only those alleging that 

the Cabinet had decided to get involved in holding banks accountable for 

withdrawing banking facilities for Gupta owned companies. The Complainant 

wanted to know if it was appropriate for the Cabinet to assist a private business and 

on what grounds was that happening. He asked if corruption was not involved and 

specifically asked if such matters should not be dealt with by the National Consumer 

Commission or the Banking Ombudsman. 

 

2.12. While the investigation was conducted in terms of section 182 of the Constitution of 

the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (the Constitution), which confers on the Public 

Protector the power to investigate, report and take appropriate remedial action in 

response to alleged improper or prejudicial conduct in state affairs,  the alleged 

improper conduct of  President Zuma  involving potential violation of the Executive 

Ethics Code, was principally investigated under section 3(1) of the Executive Ethics 

Code. The provisions of the Prevention and Combatting of Corrupt Activities Act 

were invoked with regard to allegations regarding the alleged offer of a Ministerial 

position by the Gupta family to Ms. Mentor in return for cancelling the India route of 

the SAA, in the vicinity of President Zuma, and related allegations. The provisions of 

the Protected Disclosures Act were also taken into account. 

 

2.13. I decided to  combine the  complaints and have since conducted an investigation 

under section 182 of the Constitution which confers on the Public Protector the 

power to investigate any alleged or suspected improper or prejudicial conduct, to 

report on that conduct and to take appropriate remedial action; and in terms of 

section 3(1) of the EMEA which places a peremptory duty on the Public Protector to 

investigate allegations of unethical conduct or violations of the Executive Ethics 

Code by the President and other Members of the Executive. The Complaint is also 

investigated in terms of section 7(1) of the Public Protector Act, which regulates the 

Public Protectorôs exercise of her/his investigative powers. 
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2.14. The investigation was principally undertaken because of the Second Complainant 

having lodged his complaint under the EMEA, which does not allow the Public 

Protector discretionary power to consider whether or not to investigate a matter 

falling under his/her jurisdiction.  Section 3(1) of the EMEA states that given that the 

Executive Membersô Ethics Act requires investigations under it to be concluded 

within 30 days, the investigation was given priority. It was also given priority 

because of the allegations having the potential of undermining public trust in the 

Executive and SOEs. Additional resources were requested from government with a 

view to handling it like a Commission of Inquiry and R1.5 million was allocated by 

the Department of Justice and Correctional Services for the purpose. 

 

2.15. The investigation process was informed by the provisions of sections 6 and 7 of the 

Public Protector Act, 1994 (Public Protector Act). Section 6(4) empowers the Public 

Protector to conduct own initiative investigations while section 6(5) (a) and (b) of the 

Public Protector Act specifically empowers the Public Protector to investigate any 

maladministration in connection with the affairs of any institution in which the state 

is the majority or controlling shareholder or of any public entity as defined in section 

1 of the Public Finance Management Act, No. 1 of 1999 (PFMA); and abuse or 

unjustifiable exercise of power or unfair, capricious, discourteous or other improper 

conduct. Section 7 details the processes that may be followed, which involves an 

inquisitorial process that includes requests for information, subpoenas and 

interviews. 

 

2.16. The complaint relates to allegations of improper conduct in state affairs and 

unethical conduct by the President of the Republic, and accordingly falls within my 

ambit as the Public Protector. 

 

2.17. Based on an analysis of the complaint, the following issues were identified as 

relevant for investigation: 
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Alleged breach of the Executive Member Ethics Act, 1998 

 

a) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to be involved in 

the process of removal and appointment of the Minister of Finance in 

December 2015; 

 

b) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to engage or be 

involved in the process of removal and appointing of various members of 

Cabinet; 

 

c) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to be involved in 

the process of appointing members of Boards of Directors of SOEs; 

 

d) Whether President Zuma has enabled or turned a blind eye, in violation of 

the Executive Ethics Code, to alleged corrupt practices by the Gupta family 

and his son in relation to allegedly linking appointments to quid pro quo 

conditions; 

 

e) Whether President Zuma and other Cabinet members improperly interfered 

in the relationship between banks and Gupta owned companies thus giving 

preferential treatment to such companies on a matter that should have been 

handled by independent regulatory bodies; 

 

f) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code exposed himself to any situation involving the risk of conflict between 

his official duties and his private interest or use his position or information 

entrusted to him to enrich himself and businesses owned by the Gupta family 
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and his son to be given preferential treatment in the award of state contracts, 

business financing and trading licences; and 

 

g) Whether anyone was prejudiced by the conduct of President Zuma. 

 

Awarding of contracts by certain State Owned Entities to entities linked to the Gupta 

family 

 

a) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the appointment or 

removal of Ministers and Boards of Directors of SOEs; 

 
b) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the award of state 

contracts or tenders to Gupta linked companies or persons; 

 
c) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the extension of state 

provided business financing facilities to Gupta linked companies or persons; 

 
d) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with exchange of gifts in 

relation to Gupta linked companies or persons; and 

 
e) Whether any person/entity was prejudiced due to the conduct of the SOE.  

 
Two Phased Inquisitorial Investigation Process 

 
2.18. The approach to the investigation was an inquisitorial process which asked 

questions about conduct: What happened? What should have happened? Is there a 

discrepancy between what happened and what should have happened and if there 
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is a discrepancy, is it unjustifiable and material in the circumstances and if the 

conduct qualifies to be regarded as improper conduct as alleged.  

 

2.19. I must also indicate that the investigation has been divided into two phases and that 

the first phase of the investigation did not touch on the award of licenses to the 

Gupta family and superficially touched on state financing of the Gupta-Zuma 

business while only selecting a few state contracts. The division of work was to 

accommodate the time and resource limitations by addressing the pressing 

questions threatening to erode public trust in the Executive and SOEs while 

mapping the process for the second and final phase of the investigation. 

 

2.20. The investigation process included correspondence with key parties implicated by 

the allegations and potential witnesses, with the President having been the first to 

be advised by myself in writing of the allegations being made and provided with 

copies of the first two complaints immediately after the complaints were lodged. 

President Zuma was also advised before the expiry of the mandatory 30 days for 

the completion of the investigation that it was not going to be possible to conclude 

the investigation within 30 days due to resources and communication challenges. 

 

2.21. Interviews were conducted with identified key witnesses, commencing with alleged 

whistle-blowers, Deputy Minister of Finance Mr Jonas and Ms Mentor, who 

confirmed their status as whistle-blowers. The investigation team also interviewed 

Mr Maseko, who was also identified by the media as a whistle-blower. Interviews 

were also conducted with several other ministers other selected witnesses. 

Documents were requested from appropriate persons and institutions and analysed 

and evaluated together with the oral evidence to establish if any of the allegations 

could be corroborated. 

 

2.22. Regarding the standard that was expected of President Zuma as the President of 

South Africa and the sole custodian of Executive Authority of the republic, the 
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provisions of sections 96, 195 and 237 of the Constitution taken into account 

together with the provisions of the Executive Ethics Code, Section 6 of the Public 

Protector Act and general principles of good governance as outlined below. 

 

2.23. The investigation process commenced by notification of President Zuma of the 

complaints received and that I intended to conduct a formal investigation into the 

complaints lodged. I also invited President Zuma to comment on the allegations. My 

investigation was conducted through meetings and interviews with the 

Complainants and witnesses as well as inspection of all relevant documents and 

analysis and application of all relevant laws, policies and related prescripts, 

followed. 

 

2.24. Key laws and policies taken into account to help me determine if there had been 

any improper and unethical conduct by the President and/or officials of the 

implicated State Organs due their alleged inappropriate relationship with members 

of the Gupta family were principally those governing the conduct of members of the 

Executive (Executive Members Ethics Act, 1998 and Executive Ethics Code), the 

Constitution, policies governing procurement by the respective State and its 

Organs, the Public Finance Management Act, the Companies Act, King III Report 

on Corporate Governance, Prevention and Combatting of Corrupt Activities Act, 

Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, 28 of 2002 and relevant 

National Treasury prescripts. 

 

3. POWERS AND JURISDICTION OF THE PUBLIC PROTECTOR  

 

3.1. The Public Protector was established under section 181(1)(b) of the Constitution to 

strengthen constitutional democracy through investigating and redressing improper 

conduct in state affairs. 
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3.2. Section 182(1) of the Constitution provides that the Public Protector has the power 

to investigate any conduct in state affairs, or in the public administration in any 

sphere of government, that is alleged or suspected to be improper or to result in any 

impropriety or prejudice, to report on that conduct and take appropriate remedial 

action. Section 182(2) directs that the Public Protector has additional powers 

prescribed in legislation. 

 

3.3. The Public Protector is further empowered by the Public Protector Act to investigate 

and redress maladministration and related improprieties in the conduct of state 

affairs and to resolve the disputes through conciliation, mediation, negotiation or 

any other appropriate alternative dispute resolution mechanism. 

 

3.4. The conduct of the President of the Republic in so far as his official duties are 

concerned amounts to conduct in State Affairs and as a result, the matter falls 

within the ambit of the Public Protector. 

 

3.5. Eskom SOC Limited is a State Owned Entity as listed under Schedule 2 of the 

Public Finance Management Act, Act No.1 of 1999 and its conduct amounts to 

conduct in state affairs and as a result, the matter falls within the ambit of the Public 

Protector.  

 

3.6. The Public Protectorôs jurisdiction to investigate was not disputed by any of the 

parties. However, the Public Protectorôs powers of subpoena were questioned by 

the Secretary General of the African National Congress (ñANCò), Mr Gwede 

Mantashe and the President of the ANC Youth League (ñANCYLò), Mr Collen Maine 

(ñMr Maineò).  

 

3.7. Mr Maine and Mr Mantashe questioned the Public Protectorôs powers of subpoena 

to private persons and organisations / institutions. 
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3.8. I responded to Messrs Mantashe and Maine by referring them to relevant sections 

of the Public Protector Act. Section 7(4)(a) of the Public Protector Act stipulates that 

ñthe Public Protector may direct any person to assist her in any investigation. 

Section 7(4)(a) also provides that: ñFor the purposes of conducting an investigation, 

the Public Protector may direct any person to submit an affidavit or affirmed 

declaration or to appear before him or her to give evidence or to produce any 

document in his or her possession or under his or her control which has a bearing 

on the matter being investigated, and may examine such person.ò 

 

3.9. I highlighted to both Messrs Mantashe and Maine that the above sections of the Act 

essentially mean that while the Public Protectorôs powers and jurisdiction is to 

investigate malfeasance in whatever form in state affairs, however in pursuit of this 

constitutional duty the Public Protector is empowered to enlist the assistance of any 

person. 

 

3.10. Subsequent to the above, Mr Mantashe agreed to assist and Mr Maine never 

responded. 

 

Legal interactions between myself and persons implicated in the investigation 

 

President Zuma 

 

3.11. On 22 March 2016 I wrote to President Zuma advising that I had received a request 

from the Democratic Alliance to conduct an investigation into the alleged breach of 

the Executive Memberôs Code of Ethics by President Zuma for his alleged role in 

the offering of Ministerial positions by members of the Gupta family. I quoted 

relevant extracts from the complaint and the Executive Memberôs Ethics Act. I 

attached the complaint itself. I asked the President ñif you have any comments on 

the allegations levelled against you, I will appreciate a letter indicating such 

comments from you.ò 
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3.12. In the same letter I advised President Zuma that I had received a request from the 

Dominican Order to conduct a systemic investigation into undue influence in 

Ministerôs and Deputy Ministerôs appointments, possible corruption, undue 

enrichment and undue influence in the award of tenders, mining licences and 

government advertisements. I attached the complaint itself. I again asked the 

President ñshould you have a comment thereon or information that can assist, kindly 

forward the same to me as soon as possible.ò 

 

3.13. On 22 April 2016 I forwarded a copy of my letter dated 22 March 2016 to President 

Zuma (which had apparently not reached the President). I advised that I was 

required to submit a report on the alleged breach of the Executive Memberôs Code 

of Ethics within 30 days of receipt of the complaint. I reported to the President that 

the investigation had not been completed due to inadequate resources. 

 

3.14. I received no response from the President. 

 

3.15. By early September 2016 my office had received additional funds in order to 

proceed with the investigation.  

 

3.16. On 13 September 2016 I sent another letter to the President asking for a meeting 

with him in order to brief him on the investigation and affording him a further 

opportunity to comment on the allegations, which were summarised to the effect 

that the President ought to have known and/or allowed his son Duduzane Zuma to 

exercise enormous undue influence in strategic ministerial appointments as well as 

board appointments at SOEs. 

 

3.17. On 1 October 2016 I sent President Zuma a Notice in terms of Section 7 (9) of the 

Public Protector Act. The notice restated the complaints and added the third 

complaint. I advised that my investigation was now being conducted in terms of 
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section 182 of the Constitution read with sections 6 and 7 of the Public Protector 

Act. I provided a full description of the issues investigated and how President Zuma 

was implicated therein. I detailed the evidence implicating President Zuma before 

describing his responsibility under law. I ended off the notice by advising the 

President that if I do not get his version which contradicts the said evidence, there 

would be a possibility that I could find that the above allegations are sustained by 

the evidence. I detailed the various conclusions that I would make in that case. 

 

3.18. In the meantime, a meeting was scheduled with the President for 6 October 2016. 

 

3.19. On 5 October 2016 I received a letter from the Office of the Presidency referring to 

a media article and asking, in preparation for the meeting, for urgent advice on the 

findings I had made as well as a report on whether the veracity of the allegations by 

Jonas had been fully ventilated and investigated. 

 

3.20. On 6 October 2016 I met with the President, whose legal team raised various legal 

objections and refused to discuss the merits of the investigation or the allegations 

against the President. The Presidency requested that the meeting be postponed to 

allow the President to study the documents provided and obtain legal advice.  The 

Presidency raised an objection that they had not been provided with the relevant 

documents and records, and argued that they should be allowed to question 

witnesses who had already testified before me. I disagreed with this request and 

instead offered to provide the President with written questions to which the 

President would be required to respond by affidavit.  

 
3.21. The Presidentôs legal advisor argued emphatically that the matter should be 

deferred to the incoming Public Protector for conclusion.  There was a lengthy 

discussion with the President and his advisor on this matter, after which the 

President expressed his willingness to answer the questions posed by the Public 

Protector, at a future date, after having had an opportunity to scrutinize the 

documents and consult with his legal advisor.  I advised the President that as head 
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of state, he is accountable to the people of the Republic, and that it is in his interest 

that he do so.  In an attempt to demonstrate to the President that my questions to 

him were questions of fact, not requiring legal assistance, I posed said questions to 

him.  This discussion is captured in the transcript of this meeting, which is attached 

hereto as Annexure 11. The President undertook to meet with me again on 10 

October 2016 and provide me with an affidavit in response to the questions posed.  

 

3.22. On 10 October 2016 I received a letter from the Presidency, in which he took 

exception to having been given two days before the meeting of 6 October 2016 to 

prepare for and give evidence on a range of matters which exceeded the ambit of 

the stated request for the meeting. This was as a result of the Notice in terms of 

Section 7(9) having only been received on 2 October 2016. 

 

3.23. The letter continued to raise issues of objection. Firstly, the Presidency advised that 

Section 7(9) required that he or his legal representative should be entitled to 

question other witnesses, determined by me, who have appeared before me. 

 

3.24. Secondly, the audi alteram partem rule required that, as an implicated person, the 

President is entitled to the documents and records gathered in the course of the 

investigation, to enable him to prepare his evidence. 

 

3.25. Thirdly, the Presidency required a full opportunity to be heard in order to avoid 

remedial actions ï that would be binding on him ï based on evidence not tested by 

the President as an implicated person. 

 

3.26. After providing the written questions to the Presidency, he made somewhat of an 

about-turn by deciding that in fact before deposing to an affidavit, he still required a 

list of witnesses, statements, affidavits and transcripts of any oral testimony and 

wanted to question witnesses.  

                                                 
1
 Transcript of a meeting held between the Public Protector South Africa and President Zuma on 6 October 2016. 
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3.27. The Presidency accordingly declined to provide answers to my written questions 

and cancelled the meeting for 10 October 2016. 

 

3.28. The Presidency concluded by objecting to my statement at the 6 October 2016 

meeting that I was in a hurry to complete the investigation, which was not ópart 

heardô. The Presidency suggested that the investigation could just as well be 

completed after my term as the current Public Protector expired, as with other 

pending investigations. The Presidentôs diary was determined well in advance and 

did not allow him to attend to the matter within the truncated period. 

 

3.29. The Presidency requested an undertaking by the following day, 11 October 2016, 

that I would not conclude the investigation and issue any report until he had 

received the aforesaid. 

 

3.30. On 11 October 2016 I wrote a letter to the President in response. I reassured him 

that I had, to date, not concluded my investigations into this matter and had made 

no adverse finding against the President. 

 

3.31. I undertook that this office would comply with its duties under the Constitution, the 

Public Protector Act, Executive Members Ethics Act and all other relevant laws in 

conducting this investigation and submitting the report.  

 

3.32. I noted that I had, since my first letter to him dated 22 March 2016, gone to great 

lengths to provide him with sufficient detail regarding evidence implicating him and 

the response required from him.  

 

3.33. I had, in compliance with the Public Protector Act and the law on administrative 

justice, provided him with ample opportunity to respond in connection therewith. 
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3.34. The Notice in terms of section 7(9) of the Public Protector Act was merely one in a 

succession of letters to him canvassing substantially similar issues regarding this 

matter. 

 

3.35. I noted my concern that he had, on two occasions, undertaken to provide a 

response to questions put to him in writing; when the time arose, he changed his 

mind and refused to provide responses. 

 

3.36. I advised that it was incumbent upon him to provide responses within a period that I 

decide is both convenient and practical to me, given that firstly the Constitution 

requires him to assist and protect this office. Secondly the Constitution prohibited 

him from interfering with the functioning of this office. Thirdly, the Public Protector 

Act vests in me the discretion to require him to provide me with an expedited 

response. Finally, the spirit of the Constitution and the Public Protector Act requires 

him to cooperate fully in the investigation process; conversely, recalcitrant 

witnesses, particularly high-ranking members of the Executive such as him, should 

be regarded as violating both the letter and spirit of the Constitution and the Public 

Protector Act.   

 

3.37. I advised that I had provided him with the evidence of the witnesses implicating him. 

He was not entitled to the full record of investigations as a condition precedent to 

answering the questions I had put to him. 

 

3.38. I requested the questions he wished to pose to witnesses who had appeared before 

me. I undertook to make a determination on such questions in accordance with the 

Public Protector Act. 

 

3.39. I advised that he was not entitled to refuse to answer the questions I had put to him 

prior to questioning other witnesses who had appeared before me. His right to 

question witnesses was not a sine qua non for his response to my questions. 
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3.40. I concluded by stating that it was in the Presidentôs interests, and that of the people 

of South Africa, to account fully and honestly regarding the allegations against him. 

 

3.41. I afforded the President a further extension to answer the questions put to him by no 

later than 11 am, Thursday, 13 October 2016 to enable this office to conclude the 

investigation and issue its report on the outcome thereof as soon as possible. 

 

4. THE INVESTIGATION  

 

4.1. Methodology 

 

a) The investigation was conducted in terms of section 182 of the Constitution and 

sections 6 and 7 of the Public Protector Act.  

 

b) Due to the fact that the second complaint by Honourable Mmusi Maimane was laid 

in terms of the Executive Membersô Ethics Act, 1998, I was compelled to conduct a 

formal investigation into the matter. The Act requires that The Public Protector must 

investigate any alleged breach of the code of ethics on receipt of a complaint. 

Section 3(2) of the Act further provides that the Public Protector must submit a 

report on the alleged breach of the code of ethics within 30 days of receipt of the 

complaint. 

 

4.2. Approach to the investigation 

 

a) Like every Public Protector investigation, the investigation was approached using an 

enquiry process that seeks to find out: 

¶ What happened? 

¶ What should have happened? 
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¶ Is there a discrepancy between what happened and what should have 

happened and does that deviation amount to maladministration? 

¶ In the event of maladministration what would it take to remedy the wrongful 

acts. 

 

b) The question regarding what happened is resolved through a factual enquiry relying 

on the evidence provided by the parties and independently sourced during the 

investigation. In this particular case, the factual enquiry principally focused on the 

following: 

 

Alleged breach of Executive Membersô Ethics Act, 1998 

 

c) Based on an analysis of the complaint, the following issues were identified as 

relevant for investigation: 

 

a) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive 

Ethics Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to be 

involved in the process of removal and appointment of the Minister of 

Finance in December 2015; 

 

b) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive 

Ethics Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to engage 

or be involved in the process of removal and appointing of various 

members of Cabinet; 

 

c) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive 

Ethics Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to be 

involved in the process of appointing members of Board of Directors of 

SOEs; 
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d) Whether President Zuma has enabled or turned a blind eye, in violation of 

the Executive Ethics Code, to alleged corrupt practices by the Gupta 

family and his son in relation to allegedly linking appointments to quid pro 

quo conditions; 

 

e) Whether President Zuma and other Cabinet members improperly 

interfered in the relationship between banks and Gupta owned companies 

thus giving preferential treatment to such companies on a matter that 

should have been handled by independent regulatory bodies; 

 

f) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive 

Ethics Code exposed himself to any situation involving the risk of conflict 

between his official duties and his private interest or use his position or 

information entrusted to him to enrich himself and businesses owned by 

the Gupta family and his son to be given preferential treatment in the 

award of state contracts, business financing and trading licences; and 

 

g) Whether anyone was prejudiced by the conduct of President Zuma. 

 

Awarding of contracts by certain State owned entities to entities linked to the 

Gupta family 

 

a) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the appointment or 

removal of Ministers and Boards of Directors of SOEs; 

 
b) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the award of state 

contracts or tenders to Gupta linked companies or persons; 
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c) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the extension of state 

provided business financing facilities to Gupta linked companies or persons; 

 
d) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with exchange of gifts in 

relation to Gupta linked companies or persons; and 

 
e) Whether any person/entity was prejudiced due to the conduct of the SOE.  

 
d) The enquiry regarding what should have happened, focuses on the law or rules that 

regulate the standard that should have been met by the President and the 

implicated State Owned Entities to prevent maladministration and prejudice.  

 

e) The enquiry regarding the remedy or remedial action seeks to explore options for 

redressing the consequences of maladministration. 

 

4.3. At the onset of this investigation, I took the decision to review media articles which 

made allegations of undue influence being given to the Gupta family as well as 

Mr D. Zuma with regards to contracts awarded by SOEs.  

 

4.4. I found the following SOEs were implicated in allegations of impropriety by the 

media: 

 
a) Eskom SOC Limited (ñEskomò); 

 
b) Transnet SOC Limited (ñTransnetò); 

 
c) Denel SOC Limited (ñDenelò); 

 
d) South African Airways (ñSAAò); and 
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e) South African Broadcasting Corporation (ñSABCò). 

 

Allegations raised against Eskom 

 

4.5. Eskom is South Africaôs main power utility. It uses a mix of nuclear, diesel, 

hydroelectric, pump storage, solar and coal to meet South Africaôs energy supply 

demand. 

 

4.6. South Africa produces an average of 224 million tons of marketable coal annually, 

making it the fifth largest coal producing country in the world. Twenty-five percent 

(25%) of our production is exported internationally, making South Africa the third 

largest coal exporting country in the world. The remainder of South Africa's coal 

production feeds the various local industries, with fifty-three percent (53%) used for 

electricity generation. Coal has traditionally dominated the energy supply sector in 

South Africa. This domination is unlikely to change in the next decade, due to the 

relative lack of suitable alternatives to coal as an energy source. 

 
4.7. The key role played by our coal reserves in the economy is illustrated by the fact 

that Eskom is the seventh (7th) largest electricity generator in the world. Eskom had 

thirteen (13) coal-fired power stations and maintained thirty-three (33) coal contracts 

serviced by at least twenty-eight (28) suppliers in December 2015. 

 

4.8. I discuss below, the key allegations raised against Eskom in the media. 

 

4.9. I noted an article in the City Press newspaper dated 12 June 2016 with the title 

ñHow Eskom bailed out the Guptasò. The key points of the media article are: 

 
ñEskom has quietly awarded a contract worth more than R564 million to a coal 

mining company owned by the Gupta family and President Jacob Zumaôs son 

Duduzane; 
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In March, the business rescue practitioners of Optimum Coal ï which was sold to 

Tegeta in April for R2.15 billion ï reported that the mine was projected to lose R100 

million a month; 

 

At the heart of the companyôs spectacular turnaround is the R564 million contract 

Eskom quietly awarded to Tegeta in April to supply Arnot power station with 1.2 

million tons of coal over six months. With transport costs added, Eskom is paying just 

under R700 million ï excellent, by Eskom standards; 

 

Until recently, Optimum Coal, situated just south of Middelburg, Mpumalanga, was 

owned by mining giant Glencore. It was announced in December that Tegeta would 

buy it. It was later alleged that mining minister Mosebenzi Zwane travelled to 

Switzerland with the Guptas to help them seal the deal; 

 

Tegetaôs major shareholders include the Gupta familyôs Oakbay Investments (29%); 

Duduzane Zumaôs Mabengela Investments (28.5%); Gupta associate Salim Essaôs 

company, Elgasolve (21.5%); and two unknown investors in Dubai; 

 

When Tegeta took over Optimum in January, it was losing more than R3 million a 

day because of a lossmaking contract to supply coal for the Hendrina power station. 

At the time, there was widespread speculation that Tegeta would use its political 

influence to secure more lucrative terms from Eskom; 

 

Eskom, though, has repeatedly denied this, insisting there would be no special 

treatment for the Gupta company. ñThereôs an impression that we are doing special 

favours for them. This is not true,ò Eskom spokesperson Khulu Phasiwe said on 

Thursday; 

 

At R470 a ton, Tegetaôs Arnot contract is one of Eskomôs most expensive.In May last 

year, Public Enterprises Minister Lynne Brown told Parliament that Eskom paid an 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

51 
 

average price of R230.90 a ton for coal, and that the average price of Eskomôs five 

most expensive contracts was a ñdelivered priceò of R428.84 a ton; 

 

However, the price paid to Tegeta excludes transport costs. Eskom refused to reveal 

the transport costs, saying these are ñcommercially sensitiveò. However, City Press 

has established that, with transport, Tegeta is paid roughly R580 a ton, pushing the 

total value of the six-month contract up to just under R700 million; 

 

Tegeta only received this lucrative contract thanks to a nine-month delay in Eskom 

awarding a permanent supply contract to replace a 40-year-old Exxaro contract that 

expired at the end of 2015; 

 

Eskom was supposed to award the contract in November, but this was initially 

delayed until March, and then delayed again until September this year; 

 

When Tegeta started supplying Arnot in January, they were one of seven short-term 

suppliers; 

 

In a rare public statement, the Guptasô Oakbay Investments insisted they had only a 

small piece of the pie: ñWe had a one-month contract in January, supplying less than 

15%ò; 

 

But by the end of March, the contract for Arnot had still not been awarded; 

 

ñInitially, the contract was supposed to be fulfilled in March, but we couldnôt do that 

because out of the five [short-listed bidders] none of them was able to give us the full 

5 million tons a year,ò said Phasiwe; 

 

But the original request for the proposal document issued in August last year does 

not require a single supplier for the full 5 million tons; and 
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Eskom says it approached the four remaining ad hoc suppliers at Arnot and offered 

them the opportunity to increase their supply; 

 

ñWe had to get extra tonnages from the four that are remaining. If we did not get any 

extra tonnages, we would have had a shortfall of 2.1 million tons,ò Phasiwe said; 

 

Two companies were then given additional contracts: Umsimbithi for 540 000 tons, 

and Tegeta for 1.2 million tons; 

 

Phasiwe said the delays in awarding the Arnot contract did not only benefit the 

Guptas; 

 

ñIf we have other companies benefiting, then I donôt think itôs fair to single them out.ò; 

 

Umsimbithi spokesperson Shamiela Letsoalo would not confirm the price they were 

paid, but it is less than the amount paid to the Guptas; 

 

ñThe terms of the contract are confidential. We can, however, confirm that the 

delivered contractual price is below the R450 a ton, as reported by Eskom 

previously,ò she said; 

 

Under the existing Eskom contract that Tegeta inherited from Glencore, Tegeta must 

deliver 458 000 tons of coal a month to the Hendrina power station; 

 

But City Press has established that Optimum does not produce enough coal to 

honour both contracts; 

 

In what one mining industry financier describes as a ñsleight of handò, it appears that 

Eskom is allowing Tegeta to divert a significant portion of Optimumôs coal from 
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Hendrina power station, where Eskom pays them R174 a ton, to Arnot power station 

50km away, where Eskom buys the same coal at R580 a ton; 

 

Eskom confirmed that for the past three months, Tegeta delivered, on average, 315 

000 tons of coal a month to Hendrina; 

 

Four different coal industry analysts and miners City Press spoke to questioned why 

Eskom did not take possession of the full 458 000 tons of coal at R174 a ton, but 

allowed Tegeta to use them to increase its supply to Arnot;ò 

 

4.10. In light of the above mentioned media report, I took the decision to investigate the 

following at Eskom: 

 

a) The alleged irregularities in the awarding of contracts by Eskom to Tegeta 

Exploration and Resources (ñTegetaò); and 

 

b) Contracts awarded by Eskom to Optimum Coal Mine (ñOCMò) 

 

4.11. In addition to the above, I also investigated the sale of all shares held by Optimum 

Coal Holdings (ñOCHò) and mining rights to Tegeta. 

 

Allegations raised against Transnet 

 

4.12. Transnet was formed in 1990 and is a large state company providing freight rail, 

engineering, port infrastructure and marine services. The South African Government 

through the Department of Public Enterprise is the majority shareholder in Transnet. 

 

4.13. Transet is an essential SOE and provides essential services across numerous 

industries. According to Transnetôs integrated Financial Report of 2014, their 

revenue was report as being R56,6 billion. Transnet has approximately 49,000 
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employees. Transnet is thus vital in assisting the South African economy and when 

efficiently and effectively run, jobs can be created and sustained and the economy 

as a whole can be grown. 

 

4.14. I evaluated the various articles in the media in relation to Transnet and noted an 

article in the Sunday Times newspaper styled ñTransnet deals fall into Gupta 

man's lapò dated 22 May 2016. The article made the following allegations: 

 

a) ñA close Gupta associate is set to profit from lucrative mystery-shrouded 

Transnet contracts that are under investigation by the National Treasury; 

 

b) Salim Essa, who recently benefited from a multibillion-rand partnership with 

state arms contractor Denel that Finance Minister Pravin Gordhan wants 

reversed, could now be in line to score millions more; 

 

c) This follows a decision by the board of Transnet last week to approve the 

cession of major advisory contracts from Regiments Capital to Trillian Capital 

Partners, a company registered last year in which Essa holds a 60% stake; 

 

d) Trillian director Eric Wood and Transnet say the company was initially a 

subcontractor to Regiments, but Regiments executive chairman Litha 

Nyhonyha denies this; 

 

e) The transfer of the contracts effectively means Essa inherits them without 

lifting a finger; 

 

f) All parties involved, citing confidentiality agreements, refused to give the 

value of the contracts. But documents seen by the Sunday Times show that 

Transnet paid Regiments at least R800-million in fees between April 2014 

and May 2015; 
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g) Contracts the Sunday Times was able to identify include: 

 

a) "GSM/14/04/1255 to provide support to Transnet to increase freight 

business"; and 

 

"GSM/14/04/1038 to provide professional services to Transnet in the 

renegotiation of the Kumba Iron Ore contract for a year". 

 

h) This was disputed by Nyhonhya, who said: "Ordinarily, this flattery would be 

welcomed - reports of our success being greatly exaggerated. In fact, we 

would have been delighted if the total income earned by Regiments from all 

its clients in any year was anywhere in the region of R800-million"; 

 

i) Within days of the registration of Trillian in April last year, Essa was 

introduced to Transnet as a subcontractor to Regiments; 
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j) Regiments itself had been brought to Transnet in 2012 by McKinsey & 

Company, a global advisory firm, as its subcontractor, before Regiments 

obtained its own work; 

 

k) Transnet sources said the decision to allow cession of the contracts was 

taken during a special board meeting on Wednesday last week; 

 

l) Wood was an executive director of Regiments for nearly 12 years until 

February this year before joining Trillian as CEO; 

 

m) Wood, who has a 25% stake in Trillian, headed up Regiments' contract with 

Transnet; 
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n) "Subsequently, Mr Wood consummated a transaction with Trillian without the 

involvement of Regiments"; 

 

o) But Wood denied this version and internal Transnet documents seen by the 

Sunday Times indicate that Regiments knew it was ceding the contracts to 

Trillian; 

 

p) "Before the end of February they already knew that I was moving to Trillian," 

Wood told the Sunday Times this week; 

 

q) "It's always been clear, and they always knew and understood, that I was 

moving to Trillian. I certainly don't understand why they would deny facts," he 

said; 

 

r) Transnet, through its spokesman, Mboniso Sigonyela, confirmed that it had 

appointed McKinsey, which in turn appointed Regiments as subcontractor; 

Regiments appointed Trillian as subcontractor, Sigonyela said. He added the 

request for a cession involved only one transaction; 

 

s) Nyhonyha said Regiments did not introduce Trillian to Transnet; 

 

t) Essa has been the subject of numerous reports over his links and 

partnerships with the Gupta family, who have been accused of using their 

proximity to President Jacob Zuma to score government deals; 

 

u) Essa also has links to the Transnet board through having once been a 

business partner of board chairwoman Linda Mabaso's son Malcolm - an 

adviser to Mineral Resources Minister Mosebenzi Zwane; 

 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

58 
 

v) Essa was also a business partner of Iqbal Sharma, chairman of Transnet's 

tender committee, until December 2014; 

 

w) What services were provided is a mystery; 

 

x) Contracts between Transnet, McKinsey&Co, Regiments Capital and Trillian 

Capital Partners remain a mystery as all parties refuse to release details of 

the deals, which are being investigated by the National Treasury; 

 

y) Regiments and Trillian have subsequently been appointed as leads in 

independent contracts by Transnet; 

 

z) Three independent sources informed the Sunday Times that those 

appointments, including McKinsey's, were done via a confined process - they 

were made without going out on open tender; 

 

aa) Transnet's internal policies provide for confinement but under strict 

circumstances, which internal sources insist are absent; 

 

bb) Transnet, over two weeks, refused to divulge details of the contracts or make 

available documents related to them. Thus it is not clear what work the 

companies did for Transnet, how much they may have been paid, or the 

duration of the contracts; 

 

cc) These companies have already been paid hundreds of millions by Transnet; 

 

dd) "These entities do a lot of activities within the organisation. They enjoy 

superior status due to their proximity," a Transnet source said. "In other 

instances, they provide services that the organisation is fully equipped in. 
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When they have to be paid, they are paid immediately on submission of 

invoice"; and 

 

ee) Transnet spokesman Mboniso Sigonyela said Transnet awarded contracts to 

McKinsey and Regiments for various professional support services. "The 

contracts were awarded in line with Transnet's procurement policies and 

procedures for a period of between one and two years." 

 

4.15. In light of the above mentioned article, I decided to investigate contracts awarded by 

Transnet to Regiments Capital and Trillian. The investigation into Transnet will 

however form part of the next phase of the investigation. 

 

Allegations raised against Denel 

 

4.16. Denel was established in 1991 and is a state-owned entity which specialises in 

arms and aerospace manufacturing. In 1992 the decision was taken to incorporate 

Denel under the portfolio of the Department of Public Enterprise. 

 

4.17. According to Denelôs website, ñDenel provides turn-key solutions of defence 

equipment to its clients by designing, developing, integrating and supporting 

artillery, munitions, missiles, aerostructures, aircraft maintenance, unmanned aerial 

vehicle systems and optical payloads based on high-end technology. Its defence 

capabilities date back more than 70 years when some of Denel's first manufacturing 

plants were established.ò 

 

4.18. Denel has over the years entered into numerous co-operation agreements, joint 

ventures and equity partnerships which enable Denel to be a leading manufacturer 

within the aeronautical and arms manufacturing industry as well as a key supplier to 

the South African National Defence Force. 
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4.19. Denel has 12 main divisions under which it conducts its various business activities. 

According to Denelôs integrated company report 2015/2016, they rank among the 

worldôs top 100 global defence manufacturers. This makes Denel one of the key 

State Owned Entities, which need to be managed effectively and efficiently in order 

to promote growth within the South African economy. 

 

4.20. With regards to allegations raised against Denel, I noted an article in the Mail and 

Guardian styled ñGuptas conquer state arms firm Denelò dated 5 February 2016. 

The article raised the following allegations against Denel: 

 

a) ñThe Guptas have done it again ï this time by teaming up with state-owned 

arms manufacturer Denel to profit from the sale of its products in the Eastô 

 

b) Denel announced the formation of joint venture company Denel Asia last 

week but did not identify the controversial family as shareholders by name; 

 

c) The familyôs latest success in appropriating state opportunity comes amid a 

revolt in the ruling alliance about their influence in high places; 

 

d) Following the ANC executiveôs annual lekgotla last week, party secretary 

general Gwede Mantashe reportedly said that a ñwarning came out very 

stronglyò against the ñcaptureò of state-owned enterprises by ñpeople outside 

the stateò; 

 

e) Recent controversies include the acquisition of Optimum Coal, an Eskom 

supplier, by a Gupta company. Optimumôs owner, Glencore, agreed to sell 

after the power utility squeezed Optimum financially and Mineral Resources 

Minister Mosebenzi Zwane visited Glencoreôs Swiss headquarters at the 

same time as a Gupta delegation; 
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f) Eskom has denied it influenced the sale, saying a R2.5-billion fine it imposed 

on Optimum for poor quality coal was provided for in their contract. Zwaneôs 

spoksperson has said the ministerôs visit to Switzerland was according to his 

policy of engaging with stakeholders and to avoid job losses; 

 

g) There are similar claims, though, of unfair play paving the way to the Denel 

deal ï in this instance over the bodies of officials who might have opposed it; 

 

h) The joint venture was concluded in the absence of Denelôs permanent chief 

executive, chief financial officer and company secretary, all three of whom 

are on suspension; 

 

i) Several sources sympathetic to the three have indicated that there is a strong 

suspicion they were removed to clear the way for the deal. Denel says they 

were suspended for their roles in an unrelated matter; 

 

j) Announcing the joint venture, Denel said in a press release last week 

Thursday that Denel Asia, headquartered in Hong Kong, would help Denel 

ñfind new markets for our world-class products, especially in the fields of 

artillery, armoured vehicles, missiles and unmanned aerial vehiclesò; 

 

k) Denel Asia would ñfocus its marketing attention on countries such as India, 

Singapore, Cambodia, Indonesia, Pakistan, Vietnam and the Philippines who 

have all announced their intentions to embark on major new defence 

acquisitionsò; 

 

l) Denelôs joint venture partner in the company was identified as ñVR Laser, a 

company with 20 years extensive experience [in] defence and technology in 

South Africaò. Denel also said that VR Laser had ña good understandingò of 

the target ñmarkets and opportunitiesò; 
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m) Denel did not answer amaBhungane questions this week about Denel Asiaôs 

ownership breakdown. But Hong Kong corporate records show that it was 

founded on January 29 with Denel holding 51% and VR Laser Asia 49%; 

 

n) VR Laser Asia was registered in Hong Kong after the Gupta family and 

associates acquired VR Laser Services, a Boksburg engineering firm, two 

years ago ï another deal that attracted controversy (see ñVR Laser and the 

Guptasò below); 

 

o) VR Laser Services specializes in steel cutting and processing. Its only 

apparent exposure to the defence industry is as supplier of components such 

as armour plate and armoured vehicle hulls. And although the Guptas 

themselves have done business in at least India and Singapore, VR Laser 

Servicesô own footprint is local; 

 

p) Denel did not answer amaBhungane questions probing the value of VR 

Laserôs contribution and the possibility that the Guptas would profit from 

Denel sales without contributing to them. The questions included: 

 

i. What value would VR Laser bring to the joint venture given its 

apparently limited experience in defence marketing and limited 

exposure to the Denel product range, which extends well beyond 

armoured vehicles?; and 

 
ii. Would Denel Asia have the exclusive right to market Denel products in 

the target countries or would Denel and its other subsidiaries also 

have the right to market there? 

q) Momentum for the joint venture appears to have built after Public Enterprises 

Minister Lynne Brown appointed a new Denel board in late July. She retained 
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only one member of the outgoing board, Johannes ñSparksò Motseki, ñfor 

purposes of continuityò; 

 

r) Motseki, a former treasurer of the Umkhonto weSizwe Military Veterans 

Association, is a Gupta business partner. A company of which he is the sole 

director was allocated 1.3% in a Gupta-led consortium that bought a uranium 

mining company now named Shiva Uranium in 2010; 

 

s) These shares, if Motseki still has them, would now be worth about R80-

million based on the claimed net asset value of Oakbay Resources and 

Energy, Shivaôs listed parent; 

 

t) Denel did not answer directly whether Motseki had recused himself from 

making decisions about the joint venture, but said: ñMr J Motseki has 

fiduciary duty to act in the best interest of Denel and has never influenced 

Denel to do business with any persons that he knows in whatever capacity.ò; 

 

u) Among the new boardôs first acts, in September, was to suspend Denel chief 

executive Riaz Saloojee, chief financial officer Fikile Mhlontlo and company 

secretary Elizabeth Africa. No formal reasons were given at the time; 

 

v) Denel this week said Saloojee and Mhlontlo were ñsuspended in respect [of] 

their roles in the acquisition of LSSA [Land Systems South Africa] by Denel, 

where Denel paid R855-million, of which Denel business was negatively 

affected. The disciplinary process is under way.ò; 

 

w) Denel bought LSSA, an armoured vehicle manufacturer, from arms 

multinational BAE Systems before the new boardôs appointment; 
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x) There are questions, however, about the strength of the charges against the 

officials. One legal and one other source acquainted with the matter this 

week said disciplinary hearings have not commenced but that an informal 

mediation process was about to start; 

 

y) The three officials said they were precluded from commenting. Their 

attorney, Zarina Walele, also declined comment; 

 

z) Gupta family spokesman Gary Naidoo failed to respond to questions by the 

time of going to press. VR Laser chief executive Pieter van der Merwe did not 

return calls or respond to questions emailed both to the firm and to Naidoo 

for VR Laserôs attention; 

 

aa) VR Laser Services first came to wider public attention in July 2014 in an 

amaBhungane story headlined: ñ Transnet tender bossôs R50-billion double 

gameò; 

 

bb) The story outlined how a friend of the Guptas, Iqbal Sharma, had obtained an 

interest in the company while it was in pole position to benefit from 

subcontracts in Transnetôs R50-billion tender for locomotives. At the same 

time, he was chairing the Transnet committee that oversaw the tender 

process; 

 

cc) Sharma denied any conflict of interest and took amaBhungane to the press 

ombudsman, but his complaint was dismissed; 

 

dd) At the time, a key part of the story was that the Guptasô interest in VR Laser 

was not initially disclosed. Westdawn Investments, a Gupta contract mining 

company, better known as JIC Mining Services, took a 25% stake in VR 

Laser Services, and Salim Essa, another Gupta business associate, took 

http://amabhungane.co.za/article/2014-07-03-transnet-tender-bosss-r50-billion-double-game
http://amabhungane.co.za/article/2014-07-03-transnet-tender-bosss-r50-billion-double-game


ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

65 
 

75%. Duduzane Zuma, the presidentôs son, also acquired a stake through 

Westdawn. Sharmaôs stake was by ownership of VR Laserôs premises; 

 

ee) Since then, the Gupta familyôs control of VR Laser has become clearer. 

Corporate records show that VR Laser is registered to the same Grayston, 

Sandton, office park where other Gupta businesses are based. VR Laserôs 

only three directors are Essa, Pushpaveni Govender, who is also a director of 

other Gupta companies, and Kamal Singhala, a 25-year-old nephew of the 

Guptas who gives his address as the familyôs Saxonwold compound; 

 

ff) Denel launched its Gupta joint venture, Denel Asia, without approval from the 

finance and public enterprises ministers as required; 

 

gg) Public Enterprises Minister Lynne Brownôs spokesperson, Colin Cruywagen, 

said on Thursday: ñMinister Brown gave pre-approval with strict conditions 

that included a viability study and a due diligence on the transaction. There 

are still other conditions to be met before final approval can be grantedò; 

 

hh) Pressed whether the minister, who represents the government as Denelôs 

only shareholder, was concerned about the launch of the deal, Cruywagen 

would only say: ñInteractions between the minister and the board are 

confidential. For questions about operational matters of Denel, I refer you to 

Denel and the boardò; and 

 

ii) The treasuryôs spokesperson, Phumza Macanda, said Denelôs application 

seeking Finance Minister Pravin Gordhanôs approval had been received but 

the treasury ñis still processing itò. She said Denel required both ministersô 

approval under the Public Finance Management Act as ñit is a significant 

transactionò for Denel and in line with government guarantee conditions. 
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Denel did not respond to urgent questions on Thursday whether it and its 

board exceeded their authorityò. 

 

4.21. I have decided to investigate contracts concluded between Denel and VR Laser 

Services as referenced in the above media article. The investigation into Denel will 

however form part of the next phase of the investigation. 

 

Allegations raised against SAA 

 

4.22. SAA is South Africaôs largest airline and the national flag carrier. SAA operates and 

owns the lost cost airline Mango.  

 

4.23. SAA has been the subject of extensive scrutiny, particularly relating to the 

numerous losses which the airlines has suffered over recent years. 

 

4.24. I noted the following allegations regarding SAA in the media: 

 

a) Fin24 reported that SAA had spent R9.4m on purchasing about six million 

copies of the New Age newspaper, which is owned by the Gupta family; 

 

b) Finance Minister Nhlanhla Nene replied to a parliamentary question posed by 

the DA that since March 2011, SAA purchased 5 927 000 copies of The New 

Age that were supplied to domestic on-board flights, lounges and airports; 

 

c) The newspaper was in circulation for just three months before SAA started 

buying the New Age and its circulation figures are not audited by the Audit 

Bureau of Circulations; 

 

d) Natasha Mazzone, DA shadow minister of Public Enterprises, wants Brown 

to investigate whether President Jacob Zuma had any influence on the 
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agreement between SAA and the New Age, whether such spending is 

financially viable given the current state of SAA, and why the New Age was 

chosen ahead of any other national newspaper; and 

 

e) This comes as SAAôs annual general meeting was postponed from the first 

week of October, because it had not yet finalised their 2014/15 annual 

financial statements, according to the Treasury, which now oversees the 

state-owned entity. 

 

4.25. I have decided to investigate the contract awarded by SAA to the New Age 

newspaper for circulation to its customers. The investigation into SAA will however 

form part of the next phase of the investigation. 

 

Allegations raised against SABC 

 

4.26. SABC was formed in 1936 and is the South African National Broadcaster and 

provides services in the form of 19 radio stations and 4 televisions broadcasts. 

 

4.27. The SABC provides a wide range of services and essentially connects the normal 

South African individual to the rest of South Africa. 

 

4.28. During the course of this investigation, I interviewed Honorable Julius Sello Malema 

(Mr Malemaò) to solicit any evidence in support of statements attributed to him in the 

media relating to the influence of members of the Gupta family. During the said 

interview, Mr Malema made the following allegations relating to SABC: 

 

a) That the SABC, previously allowed government departments to communicate 

with the nation at no cost. This includes instances where Ministers required 

air time in order to make announcements and launch campaigns; and 
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b) SABC has since entered into a partnership agreement with the New Age 

newspaper and government departments, including Ministers are required to 

pay either SABC, New Age newspaper and/or the relevant partnership to 

appear on SABC for purposes of communication with the nation. 

 

4.29. The above allegations were confirmed by Minister Mbalula during an interview with 

him on this investigation. 

 

4.30. Following the above allegations, I have decided to investigate any contract(s) 

awarded to the New Age newspaper and/or TNA Media by the SABC. The 

investigation into SABC will however form part of the next phase of the 

investigation. 

 

Alleged breach of Executive Members Ethics Act, 1998 

 

a) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to be involved in 

the process of removal and appointment of the Minister of Finance in 

December 2015; 

 

b) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to engage or be 

involved in the process of removal and appointing of various members of 

Cabinet; 

 

c) Whether President Zuma improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics 

Code, allowed members of the Gupta family and his son, to be involved in 

the process of appointing members of Boards of Directors of SOEs; 
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d) Whether President Zuma has enabled or turned a blind eye, in violation of 

the Executive Ethics Code, to alleged corrupt practices by the Gupta family 

and his son in relation to allegedly linking appointments to quid pro quo 

conditions; and 

 

e) President Zuma has and in violation of the Executive Ethics Code exposed 

himself to any situation involving the risk of conflict between his official duties 

and his private interest or use his position or information entrusted to him to 

enrich himself and businesses owned by the Gupta family and his son to be 

given preferential treatment in the award of state contracts, business 

financing and trading licences. 

 

Awarding of contracts by certain state owned entities to entities linked to 

members of the Gupta family 

 

a) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the appointment or 

removal of Ministers and Boards of Directors of SOEs; 

 
b) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the award of state 

contracts or tenders to Gupta linked companies or persons; 

 
c) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the extension of state 

provided business financing facilities to Gupta linked companies or persons; 

 
d) Whether any state functionary in any organ of state or other person acted 

unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with exchange of gifts in 

relation to Gupta linked companies or persons; and 
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e) Whether any person/entity was prejudiced due to the conduct of the SOE. 

 
The Key Sources of information  

 

4.31. Interviews relating to the issue, ñwhether President Zuma improperly and in 

violation of the Executive Ethics Code, allowed members of the Gupta family 

and his son, to engage or be involved in the process of removal and 

appointing of various members of Cabinetò 

 
 
a) Former Member of Parliament, Ms Mentor on 22 July 2016; 

 

b) Deputy Minister of Finance, Mr Jonas on 11 August 2016; 

 

c) Former Chief Executive Officer of Government Communication and 

Information System, Mr Maseko on 17 August 2016; 

 

d) Former Minister of the Department of Public Enterprises, Ms Barbara 

Hogan (ñMs Hoganò) on 26 August 2016; 

 

e) Former Minister of Finance Mr Nhlanhla Nene on 5 September 2016; 

 

f) Minister of Finance, Mr Pravin Gordhan on 12 September 2016; 

 

g) Minister of the Department of Trade and Industry, Honourable Rob Davies 

on 19 September 2016; 

 

h) Economic Freedom Fighters Leader Hon. Malema on 22 September 2016; 
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i) Former security guard at the Gupta family residence, Mr John Maseko (ñMr 

Masekoò) on 22 September 2016; 

 

j) A member of the Gupta family, Mr Ajay Gupta on 4 October 2016; 

 

k) Security guard at the Gupta family residence Mr Mjikijeli Kheswa (ñMr 

Kheswaò) on 6 October 2016; 

 

l) Businessman Mr Fana Hlongwane (ñMr Hlongwaneò) on 11 October 2016; 

and 

 

m) Minister of Sports, Mr Fikile Mbalula (ñMr Mbalulaò) on 12 October 2016. 

 

4.32. Subpoenas issued in relation to the issue, ñwhether President Zuma 

improperly and in violation of the Executive Ethics Code, allowed members of 

the Gupta family and his son, to engage or be involved in the process of 

removal and appointing of various members of Cabinetò 

 
 

a) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Ms Mentor dated 15 July 2016; 

 

b) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Mr Collen Maine dated 27 September 2016; 

 

c) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Minister Mbalula dated 27 September 2016; 

 

d) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Mr Mjikijeli Kheswa, a G4S Security Guard at the Gupta family residence 

dated 27 September 2016; 
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e) A subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 

1994 to Vodacom;  

 

f) A subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 

1994 to Vodacom; 

 

g) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Vodacom dated 1 September 2016; 

 

h) A subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 

1994 to MTN; 

 
i) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to MTN dated 6 September 2016; 

 

j) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Vodacom dated 5 October 2016; 

 
k) A subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 

1994 to Cell C; and 

 

l) Subpoena in terms of section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 to 

Dr Cassius Lubisi, the Presidency dated 5 September 2016. 

 

4.33. Documents relating to Eskom / Tegeta / OCM / OCH 

 
 

a) Report on the Verification of Compliance with Treasury norms and 

standards, Appointment of Tegeta; 

 

b) Minutes of meeting with Goldridge held on 09 May 2014; 
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c) Minutes of meeting with Tegeta held on 10 July 2014; 

 

d) Minutes of meeting with Tegeta held on 23 September 2014; 

 

e) Minutes of meeting with Tegeta held on 23 January 2015; 

 

f) Minutes of meeting with Tegeta-Idwala held on 30 January 2015; 

 

g) Coal Supply Agreement between Eskom and Trans-Natal Coal Corporation; 

 

h) Limited and Trans-Natal Collieries Limited dated 4 January 1993; 

 

i) First Addendum to Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement between Eskom 

Holdings Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings Proprietary Limited and 

Optimum Coal Mine Proprietary Limited; 

 

j) Settlement of Arbitration and second Addendum to the Hendrina Coal 

Supply Agreement between Eskom Holdings Limited and Optimum Coal 

Holdings Limited and Optimum Coal Mine (Proprietary) Limited; 

 

k) Third Addendum to the Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement amongst Eskom 

Holdings SOC Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings (Proprietary) Limited 

and Optimum Coal Mine (Proprietary) Limited; 

 

l) Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement, Sizing Specifications letter dated 23 

April 2013; 

 

m) Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement, Hardship letter dated 3 July 2013; 
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n) Agreement between Eskom Holdings SOC Limited and Optimum Coal Mine 

Proprietary Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings Proprietary Limited 

regarding a process to engage on issues between the parties and for the 

review and future extension of the Coal Supply Agreement for the Hendrina 

Power Station signed 23 May 2014; 

 

o) Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement, letter dated 13 November 2014; 

 

p) Draft Fourth Addendum to the Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement amongst 

Eskom Holdings SOC Limited and Optimum Coal Mining Proprietary 

Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings Proprietary Limited; 

 

q) Minutes of Board Meeting 02-2015/16 held on 23 April 2015 Horseshow 

Boardroom, Eskom Bellville Offices, Cape Town from 09h00; 

 

r) Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement, letter dated 22 May 2015; 

 

s) Acknowledgement of receipt: Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement (CSA) 

signed 10 June 2015; 

 

t) Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement: Reinstatement of Hardship Arbitration 

dated 23 June 2015; 

 

u) Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement: Revised Offer letter dated 30 June 2015; 

 

v) Offer received from KPMG on 1 July 2015; 

 

w) Demand for repayment in respect of coal which failed to comply with the 

Quality Specification of the CSA during the period 1 March 2012 to 31 May 

2015 dated 16 July 2015; 
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x) Business Rescue Plan for OCH dated 31 March 2016; 

 

y) Nomination as Arbitrator by The Law Society of the Northern Provinces in 

Terms of Clause 6.5 of the First Addendum to the Coal Supply Agreement 

Between Eskom Holdings SOC Limited // Optimum Coal Mine Holdings 

Proprietary Limited Optimum Coal Mine Proprietary Limited letter dated 5 

August 2015; 

 

z) Summons served on OCM and OCH on 5 August 2015; 

 

aa) Eskom Holdings SOC Limited / Optimum Coal Mine Proprietary Limited & 

Optimum Coal Holdings Proprietary Limited letter dated 6 August 2015; 

 

bb) Optimum Coal Holdings Ltd (In Business Rescue) and Optimum Coal Mine 

(Pty) Ltd (In Business Rescue) letter dated 7 August 2015; 

 

cc) Optimum Coal Mine Proprietary Limited (In Business Rescue) / Eskom 

Holdings SOC Limited Re: Coal Supply Agreement, suspension of 

Agreement and offer to supply letter dated 20 August 2015 

 

dd) Eskom Holdings Limited / Optimum Coal Mine Proprietary Limited and 

Optimum Coal Holdings Proprietary Limited letter dated 21 August 2015; 

 

ee) Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Limited (In Business Rescue) letter dated 21 

August 2015; 

 

ff) Eskom Holdings SOC Limited // Optimum Coal Proprietary Limited (In 

Business Rescue) & Optimum Coal Holdings Proprietary Limited (In 

Business Rescue) letter dated 24 August 2015; 
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gg) Optimum Coal Mine Proprietary Limited (In Business Rescue) / Eskom 

Holdings SOC Limited Re, Coal Supply Agreement letter dated 26 August 

2016; 

 

hh) Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Ltd (In Business Rescue), Settlement Proposal 

letter dated 17 September 2015; 

 

ii) Without Prejudice: Eskom Holdings SOC Limited/ Optimum Coal Mine 

Proprietary Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings Limited, indulgence on 

Qualities letter dated 19 September 2015; 

 

jj) Without Prejudice: Eskom Holdings SOC Limited/ Optimum Coal Mine 

Proprietary Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings Limited, indulgence on 

Qualities letter dated 22 September 2015; 

 

kk) Optimum Coal Mine Proprietary Limited (In Business Rescue), settlement 

Proposal letter dated 30 September 2015; 

 

ll) Optimum Coal Mine Proprietary Limited (In Business Rescue), settlement 

Process letter dated 5 October 2015; 

 

mm) Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Ltd, Non-Binding Offer letter dated 7 October 

2015; 

 

nn) Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Ltd, Non-Binding Offer letter dated 23 October 

2015; 

 

oo) Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Ltd (In Business Rescue), options letter dated 29 

October 2015; 
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pp) Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Ltd (In Business Rescue), options letter dated 3 

November 2015; 

 

qq) Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Ltd (In Business Rescue), options letter dated 5 

November 2015; 

 

rr) Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Ltd (In Business Rescue), options letter dated 13 

November 2015; 

 

ss) Summary Record of Discussion Meeting Name: Exploratory Discussions on 

Sustainable Hendrina Coal Supply dated 24 November 2015; 

 

tt) Coal Supply Agreement entered into between Eskom SOC Limited 

(ñEskomò) and Tegeta Exploration and Resources (Pty) Ltd (ñTegetaò) for 

the supply of coal at Majuba Power Station; and 

 

uu) Coal Supply Agreement entered into between Eskom SOC Limited 

(ñEskomò) and Tegeta Exploration and Resources (Pty) Ltd (ñTegetaò) for 

the supply of coal at Arnot Power Station. 

 

4.34. Interviews conducted relating to Eskom / Tegeta / OCM / OCH 

 

a) Former Business Rescue Practitioners for Optimum Coal Mine (ñOCMò) and 

Optimum Coal Holdings (ñOCHò), Messrs Piers Marsden and Peter van den 

Steen on 9 September 2016; 

 

b) Standard Bank on 14 September 2016;  

 

c) Glencore South Africa on 15 September 2016; 
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d) Exxaro Limited on 16 September 2016; and 

 

e) Loan Consortium. 

 

4.35. Subpoenas issued in relation to Eskom / Tegeta / OCM / OCH 

 
 

a) Subpoena in terms of section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 to 

Standard Bank dated 22 September 2016; 

 

b) Subpoena in terms of section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 to 

Exxaro Coal dated 22 September 2016; 

 

c) A subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 

1994 to Mr Nazeem Howa of Tageta; 

 

d) A subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 

1994 to Mr Mark Pamensky of the Eskom Board of Directors; 

 

e) A subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 

1994 to Mr Molefe of Eskom; 

 

f) A subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 

1994 to Mr Singh of Eskom; 

 

g) Subpoena in terms of section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 to 

Telkom dated 22 September 2016; 

 

h) A subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 

1994 to Standard Bank; 
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i) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Emirates Airlines dated 15 September 2016; 

 

j) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Glencore dated 15 September 2016; 

 
m) Subpoena in terms of section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 to 

First Rand Bank dated 5 September 2016; 

 

n) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Messrs Peter van den Steen and Piers Marsden, Business Rescue 

Practitioners dated 13 September 2016; and 

 

k) Subpoena in terms of section 7(4) and (5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Nedbank dated 5 September 2016. 

 

4.36. Correspondence sent and received in relation to the issues under 

investigation 

 

i) A letter sent to Van der Merwe Attorneys dated 27 September 2016; 

 

j) A letter to Minister Ramatlhodi dated 27 September 2016; 

 

k) A letter to National Treasury dated 27 September 2016; 

 

l) A letter dated 27 September 2016 to President Zuma; 

 

m) A letter to CDH Attorneys dated 27 September 2016; 
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n) Notice in terms of section 7(9) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 to President 

Zuma dated 2 October 2016; 

 

o) Notice in terms of section 7(9) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 to Dr Ben 

Ngubane, Chairperson the Board of Directors at Eskom dated 4 October 

2016; 

 

p) Notice in terms of section 7(9) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 to Mr D. 

Zuma dated 4 October 2016; 

 

q) Notice in terms of section 7(9) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 to Mr Ajay 

Gupta dated 4 October 2016; 

 

r) Letter to Honourable Ben Martins, MP dated 5 October 2016; 

 

s) Letter to CDH Attorneys dated 7 October 2016; 

 

t) Letter to Stockenstrom Fouche Attorneys dated 10 October 2016; 

 

u) Letter to President Zuma dated 11 October 2016; 

 

v) Letter to Mr Molefe dated 2 August 2016; 

 

w) Letter to Mr Zwelakhe Ntshepe of Denel dated 2 August 2016 a; 

 

x) Letter to Mr Musa Zwane of SAA dated 2 August 2016; 

 

y) Letter to Mr Siyabonga Gama of Transnet dated 2 August 2016; 

 

z) Letter to CDH Attorneys dated 24 August 2016; 
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aa) Letter to CDH Attorneys dated 30 August 2016; 

 

bb) Letter to National Treasury dated 2 September 2016; 

 

cc) Letter to CDH Attorneys dated 5 September 2016; 

 

dd) Letter to Messrs Peter van den Steen and Piers Marsden, Business Rescue 

Practitioners dated 5 September 2016; 

 

ee) Letter to Mr Nazeem Howa of Tegeta dated 5 September 2016; 

 

ff) Letter to National Treasury dated 12 September 2016; 

 

gg) Letter to Bishop Mpumlwana of SACC dated 13 September 2016; 

 

hh) Letter to Mr Mantashe of ANC dated 13 September 2016; 

 

ii) Letter to Minister Davies dated 13 September 2016; 

 

jj) Letter to President Zuma dated 13 September 2016; 

 

kk) Letter to Honourable Mmusi Maimane dated 14 September 2016; 

 

ll) Letter to CDH Attorneys dated 14 September 2016; 

 

mm) Letter to CDH Attorneys dated 19 September 2016; 

 

nn) Letter to Standard Bank dated 20 September 2016; 
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oo) Letter to CDH Attorneys dated 20 September 2016; and 

 

pp) Letter to Werksmans Attorneys dated 20 September 2016. 

 
 
Subpoenas issued relating to contracts awarded by Eskom to Tegeta in 

respect of the issue, ñwhether any state functionary in any organ of state or 

other person acted unlawfully, improperly or corruptly in connection with the 

award of state contracts or tenders to Gupta linked companies or personsò 

 
 

a) Subpoena in terms of Section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Standard Bank Limited dated 

 

b) Subpoena in terms of Section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to First National Bank, a division of FirstRand Group Limited dated 

 

c) Subpoena in terms of Section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to a Consortium of banks which advanced a loan to Optimum Coal Holdings 

(Pty) Ltd dated; 

 

d) Subpoena in terms of Section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Glencore South Africa (Pty) Ltd dated; 

 

e) Subpoena in terms of Section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to Exxaro Coal: Mpumalanga and Mafubi (Pty) Ltd dated 

 

f) Subpoena in terms of Section 6 and 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, 1994 

to the former Business Rescue Practitioners for Optimum Coal Holdings 

(Pty) Ltd and Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Ltd, Messrs Piers Michael Marsden 

and Petrus Francois van den Steen dated 
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Websites consulted/ electronic sources 

 

1. http://www.news24.com/SouthAfrica/News/full-text-mcebisi-jonas-

statement-20160316 

 

2. http://www.iol.co.za/news/politics/i-love-the-anc-but-i-love-sa-more---vytjie-

mentor-1999262 

 

3. http://mg.co.za/article/2016-02-05-00-guptas-conquer-state-arms-firm-denel 

 

4. http://www.fin24.com/Economy/SAA-spends-nearly-R10m-with-New-Age-

20151012 

 

5. http://www.timeslive.co.za/sundaytimes/stnews/2016/05/22/Transnet-deals-

fall-into-Gupta-mans-lap 

 

6. http://mg.co.za/article/2016-03-29-gupta-director-joined-eskom-board-

within-three-months 

 

7. https://www.da.org.za/2016/06/public-protectors-gupta-investigation-must-

include-eskom-coal-deals/ 

 

8. http://www.cipc.co.za 

 
9. www.eskom.co.za 

 

10. https://archive.org/web/ 

 
11. www.wikipedia.org 

12. www.news24.com 

http://www.news24.com/SouthAfrica/News/full-text-mcebisi-jonas-statement-20160316
http://www.news24.com/SouthAfrica/News/full-text-mcebisi-jonas-statement-20160316
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13. http://www.miningmx.com 

14. http://mg.co.za/ 

15. http://amabhungane.co.za/ 

16. https://www.saica.co.za/integritax/2012/2025._Mining_rehabilitation_funds_.

htm 

 

Legislation and other prescripts 

 

a) The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996; 

b) Public Protector Act, No. 23 of 1994; 

c) Executive Members Ethics Act, No. 82 1998; 

d) Executive Ethics Code, 2000; 

e) The Public Management Finance Act, 1 of 1999; 

f) The Companies Act, 71 of 2008; 

g) The Prevention and Combating of Corrupt Activities Act,12 of 2004; 

h) Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, 28 of 2002 ; 

i) National Environmental Management Act, 107 of 1998; 

j) National Environmental Management Laws Amendment Act, 25 of 2014; 

k) Income Tax Act, 58 of 1962; 

l) Regulations in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999; 

m) Common Law; 

n) King III Report on Corporate Governance; 

o) Eskomôs Procurement and Supply Chain Management Procedure 32-188 

effective from 1 December 2006; 

p) Eskom Short Term Emergency Coal Procedure GGP 1194 effective from 

dated April 2004; 

q) Eskomôs Procurement and Supply Chain Management Procedure 32-1034;  

r) The Medium Term Coal Procurement Mandate of August 2008; 

 

s) Eskom Conflict of Interest Policy 32-173 

http://www.miningmx.com/
http://mg.co.za/
http://amabhungane.co.za/
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t) Regulations in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, No. 1 of 1999; 

 
u) National Treasury Framework for Supply Chain Management dated 5 

December 2003; and 

 
v) King III Report on Corporate Governance. 

 

5. EVIDENCE AND INFORMATION OBTAINED  

 

Introduction 

 

5.1. The Gupta family, originating from India, arrived in South Africa in 1993. They 

established businesses in South Africa with their notable business being a computer 

assembly and distribution company called Sahara Computers. The family is led by 

three brothers Ajay Gupta who is the eldest, Atul Gupta and Rajesh Gupta who is 

the youngest. Rajesh is commonly known as ñTonyò. According to a letter submitted 

to my office, total revenues from their business activities for the 2016 financial year 

amounted to R2,6 billion, with government contracts contributing a total of R235 

million of the revenues. 

 

5.2. They later diversified their business interests into mining through the acquisition of 

JIC Mining Services, Shiva Uranium and Tegeta Exploration and Resources, 

Optimum Coal Mine and Koornfontein Coal Mine. They also started a media 

company called TNA Media, which publishes a newspaper called The New Age and 

owns a television channel called ANN7. 

 

5.3. The Gupta family are known friends of the President Zuma. President Zuma has 

openly acknowledged his friendship with them, most notably during a discussion in 

the National Assembly on 19 June 2013 where he admitted that members of the 
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Gupta family were his friends. Mr Ajay Gupta (ñMr A. Gupta), also admitted to being 

friends with President Zuma when I interviewed him on 4 October 2016. 

 

5.4. President Zumaôs son, Mr Duduzane Zuma (ñMr D. Zumaò) is a business partner of 

the Gupta family through an entity called Mabengela Investments (ñMabengelaò). 

Mabengela has a 28.5% interest in Tegeta Exploration and Resources (ñTegetaò). 

Mr D. Zuma is a Director of Mabengela. 

 

5.5. Members of the Gupta family and the President Zumaô son, Mr D. Zuma, have 

secured major contracts with Eskom, a major State owned company, through 

Tegeta. Tegeta has secured a 10 year coal supply agreement (ñCSAò) with Eskom 

SOC Limited (ñEskomò) to supply coal to the Majuba Power station. The entity has 

also secured contracts with Eskom to supply coal to the Hendrina and Arnot power 

stations.  

 

5.6. Eskom CEO, Mr Brian Molefe (ñMr Molefeò) is friends with members of the Gupta 

family. Mr A. Gupta admitted during my interview with him on 4 October 2016 that 

Mr Molefe is his ñvery good friendò and often visits his home in Saxonwold.  

 

5.7. The New Age newspaper has also secured contracts with some provincial 

government departments and state owned entities, most notably Eskom and South 

African Airways (ñSAAò). 

 

5.8. The Gupta family recently purchased shares in an entity called VR Laser Services 

(ñVR Laserò). VR Laser has major contracts with Denel SOC Limited (ñDenelò), a 

State owned armaments manufacturing company. VR Laser has also partnered with 

Denel to apparently seek business opportunities abroad. 

 

5.9. During March this year, Mr Jonas issued a media statement alleging that he was 

offered the position of Minister of Finance by members of the Gupta family in 
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exchange for executive decisions favourable to the business interests of the Gupta 

family, an offer which he declined. The Gupta family has denied the allegations 

made by Mr Jonas. 

 

5.10. At the time Mr Jonas is alleged to have been offered a Cabinet post as Minister of 

Finance, Mr Nene was occupying the post. Mr Nene was removed from his post on 

9 December 2015 by President Zuma and replaced with Minister Van Rooyen. 

Minister Van Rooyen was replaced by Minister Gordhan on 14 December 2015 as 

Minister of Finance, 4 days after his appointment. 

 

5.11. Following Mr Jonasô statement, Ms Mentor also issued a statement to the press 

alleging that she was also offered a Cabinet post by members of the Gupta family in 

exchange for executive decisions favourable to their business interests, an 

allegation denied by the Gupta family. 

 

5.12. The former CEO of Government Communication and Information System (ñGCISò), 

Mr Themba Maseko also issued a statement alleging that members of the Gupta 

family pressured him into placing government advertisements in the New Age 

newspaper. Mr Maseko further alleged that President Zuma asked him to ñhelpò the 

Gupta family. 

 

Alleged breach of Executive Membersô Ethics Act, 1998 

 

Complainantôs Case 

 

5.13. There are two pertinent complaints relating to the alleged breach of the Executive 

Members Ethics Act of 1998 by President Zuma. The complaints are as follows: 

 

a) The first complaint was lodged on 18 March 2016 by Father S Mayebe on 

behalf of the Dominican Order, a group of Catholic Priests.  The complaint 
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related to the media reports regarding allegations that Deputy Minister of 

Finance, Mr Jonas and former Chairperson of the Parliamentary Portfolio 

Committee on Public Enterprises, Ms Mentor were offered Cabinet positions 

in exchange for executive decisions favourable and beneficial to the 

business interests of the Gupta family; and 

 

b) The second complaint was lodged on 18 March 2016 by the leader of the 

Democratic Alliance, Mr Mmusi Maimane against the President in terms of 

the Executive Membersô Ethics Act, 1998.  Mr Maimane also referred to the 

media reports regarding the offer of Cabinet positions to Ms Mentor and Mr 

Jonas. 

 

5.14. Following the above complaints, I interviewed Ms Mentor and Mr Jonas to establish 

facts regarding the allegations raised in the media. I address in the next 

paragraphs, the statements made by both Ms Mentor and Mr Jonas.  

 

Interview with Ms Mentor 

 

5.15. The interview with Ms Mentor was held on 22 July 2016 in Cape Town. She 

informed of the following: 

 

a) Ms Mentor informed me that she was offered the position of Minister of 

Public Enterprises by the members of the Gupta family at their Saxonwold 

home in Johannesburg, with President Zuma present in the house. The post 

was occupied by former African National Congress (ñANCò) Member of 

Parliament (ñMPò), Ms Barbara Hogan at the time; 

 

b) Ms Mentor stated that a week before Cabinet reshuffle in October 2010, she 

travelled from Cape Town to Johannesburg on a South African Airways 

(ñSAAò) flight believing she was going to meet with President Zuma. The 
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meeting was arranged by a staffer from the Presidency. Upon her arrival at 

OR Tambo International Airport (ñORTIAò), she was welcomed by two 

unknown men at the arrivals lounge who held her name tag. The men drove 

her to the offices of Sahara Computers first. They later drove her to the 

residence of the Gupta family in Saxonwold, where the job offer was made; 

 

c) She stated that she was told she could become a Minister within a week or 

so, if she assisted with influencing the South African Airways cancellation of 

the India route, she would become Minister of Public Enterprises. She 

declined the offer; 

 

d) Ms Mentor stated that Zuma emerged minutes later from another entrance; 

 

e) She stated ñThe president was not angry that she declined the offer. He 

apparently said to her in Zulu, something like óitôs okay Ntombazane (girl)... 

take care of yourselfò; 

 

f) Mentor recounted how Zuma acted as usual like a father and a leader and 

immediately accepted that she disagreed with the proposal, and escorted 

her to the window-tinted vehicle outside; and 

 

g) Mentor said she was not aware of any cabinet reshuffling plans at the time 

until she heard about the actual reshuffling a few days after the offer of a 

Cabinet post was made to her by members of the Gupta family. 

 

Interview with Ms Hogan 

 

5.16. I interviewed Ms Barbara Hogan on 26 August 2016 to understand facts relating to 

some of the statements made by Ms Mentor. She informed me of the following: 
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a) She served as a Minister of the Department on Public Enterprises from April 

2009 to October 2010; 

 

b) She was removed by President Zuma from her Ministerial position in 

October 2010; 

 

c) During her tenure, she had the responsibility to appoint Board members in 

the State Owned Entities (SOEs) which fell under DPE; 

 

d) The Board appointments would be discussed and approved by Cabinet; 

 

e) President Zuma and the Secretary General of the ANC, Mr Mantashe took 

interest in the appointment of Board members. President Zuma took interest 

in the appointment of Board members at Eskom and Transnet whereas 

Mr Mantashe was interested in the appointment of Board members at 

Transnet; 

 

f) President Zuma made it very difficult for her to perform her job, at a certain 

point he would not even allow her to appoint a Director General in her 

Department; 

 

g) When she became Minister, most SOEs were in financial distress with the 

exception of a few, including Transnet and SAA; 

 

h) The SAA Board was chaired by Ms Cheryl Carolous (Ms Carolous) at the 

time; 

 

i) During a State visit to India in June 2010, she noticed that members of the 

Gupta family had taken over control of the proceedings and were appearing 

to be directing the programme; 
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j) During the said visit, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Jet Airways 

wanted to meet with her on several occasions; 

 

k) At the time, there were rumours in the media about SAA ceasing to operate 

the Johannesburg - Mumbai route; 

 

l) She enquired with Ms Carolous about these rumours. Ms Carolous 

responded by text indicating that Jet Airways have been lobbying SAA to 

cease operating the Johannesburg - Mumbai route and SAA were not 

prepared to do so; 

 

m) During August 2010 in a joint South Africa / India meeting held in South 

Africa, rumours started circulating about her removal as Minister of DPE; 

and 

 

n) On 31 October 2010, she met with President Zuma and he dismissed her 

as Minister. 

 

Interview with Mr Jonas 

 

5.17. I interviewed the Deputy Minister of Finance, Mr Mcebisi Jonas (Mr Jonas) to 

establish facts regarding allegations that he was offered a Cabinet post my 

members of the Gupta family. He informed me of the following: 

 

a) Mr Hlongwane, whom Mr Jonas knew very well as a comrade, initiated 

discussions with him about a meeting with Mr D. Zuma; 
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b) He agreed to the meeting although with reservations as he was aware that 

Mr D. Zuma was working with members of the Gupta family for financial 

gain; 

 

c) He gave permission to Mr Hlongwane to provide his mobile number to Mr D. 

Zuma; 

 

d) On 17 October 2015, he received several text messages from Mr D. Zuma; 

 

e) The initial messages were about the invitation to attend the South African 

Awards Ceremony hosted by the Gupta family; 

 

f) The event was scheduled for 18 October 2015 and Mr Jonas declined the 

invite due to his busy schedule; 

 

g) On 23 October 2015, Mr Jonas agreed to meet with Mr D. Zuma; 

 

h) The meeting started at the Hyatt Regency hotel in Rosebank; 

 

i) Mr Jonas arrived early and waited for Mr D. Zuma; 

 

j) Mr D. Zuma later arrived and a short while into the meeting, indicated that 

the place was crowded and he needed to move to a more private place for 

a discussion with a third party to which he agreed. The location was not 

disclosed to him; 

 

k) Using Mr D. Zumaôs vehicle, they travelled together to what later Mr Jonas 

found to be the Gupta family residence in Saxonwold; 
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l) He was unfamiliar with the area and had never been to the Gupta family 

residence before; 

 

m) They arrived at a ñcompound like residenceò with security guards; 

 

n) As they arrived, Mr Hlongwane alighted from his car to join them; 

 

o) Once inside the residence, they were joined by Mr Ajay Gupta, whom 

Mr Jonas had never met before and recognised him from articles in the 

press); 

 

p) During the meeting, there was no exchange of pleasantries. Mr Ajay Gupta 

informed him that they had been gathering intelligence on him and those 

close to him; 

 

q) He apparently indicated that they were well aware of his activities and his 

connections to Mr Mantashe and the Treasurer of the ANC, Dr Zweli Mkhize 

(Dr Mkhize), alleging that he was part of a faction or process towards 

undermining President Zuma; 

 

r) Mr Ajay Gupta informed Mr Jonas that they were going to make him 

Minister of Finance. Mr Jonas reported that he was shocked and irritated by 

the statement; 

 

s) He declined the position and informed Mr Ajay Gupta that only the 

President of the Republic can make such decisions; 

 

t) He informed Mr Ajay Gupta that he was leaving. At no stage did Mr D. 

Zuma and Mr Hlongwane speak during the meeting. They were told to sit 

down when I indicated that I was leaving; 
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u) Mr Ajay Gupta continued to speak. He disclosed names of ñComradesò they 

were working with and providing protection to. He mentioned that 

collectively as a family, they ñmade a lot of money from the Stateò and they 

wanted to increase the amount from R6 billion to R8 billion and that a bulk 

of their funds were held in Dubai; 

 

v) According to Mr Jonas, Mr A. Gupta further indicated that National Treasury 

were a stumbling block to the familyôs business ambitions. As part of the 

offer to become a Finance Minister, Mr Jonas would be expected to remove 

the current Director General of National Treasury and other key members of 

Executive Management; 

 

w) Mr A. Gupta apparently mentioned that his family has made Mr D. Zuma a 

Billionnaire and that he has a house in Dubai; 

 

x) As Mr Jonas was walking towards the door, Mr A. Gupta made a further 

offer of R600 million to be deposited in an account of his choice. He asked if 

Mr Jonas had a bag which he could use to receive and carry R600,000 in 

cash immediately, which he declined; 

 

y) He then asked Mr D. Zuma and Mr Hlongwane to transport him to the 

airport. On the way to the airport, Mr Jonas apparently asked both Mr D. 

Zuma and Mr Hlongwane to explain why he was not informed that he would 

be meeting with members of the Gupta family. They all agreed to meet the 

following Tuesday to discuss the issue and the meeting never took place; 

 

z) He later contacted Mr Hlongwane to inform him of his unhappiness about 

the meeting; 
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aa) Immediately after the meeting, he informed former Minister of Finance Mr 

Nhlanhla Nene. I later also informed current Minister of Finance Mr Pravin 

Gordan and Mr Zweli Mkhize of the ANC about the offer; and 

 

bb) On 16 March 2016, he released a statement after the media started 

reporting on the matter. 

 

Interview with Mr Nene 

 

5.18. I interviewed Mr Nene on 5 September 2016 to confirm if Mr Jonas discussed the 

alleged offer with him. Mr Nene stated the following: 

 

a) Mr Jonas informed him that he was offered a Cabinet post by members of 

the Gupta family shortly after the meeting had taken place; 

 

b) He does not remember the exact date of the meeting but it was ña coupleò 

of months prior to his removal as Minister of Finance; 

 

c) At the time, there was speculation in the media about his removal. He 

therefore thought the alleged offer was just a ñbluffò; 

 

d) He was removed from his post as the Minister of Finance by the President 

on the evening of 8 December 2015; 

 

e) When informing him of the decision to remove him as Minister of Finance, 

the President stated that he would be deployed to the Africa Regional 

Centre of the ñBRICS Bankò; 

 

f) He apparently stated that it was discussed in the so called ñTop Sixò of the 

ANC; and 
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g) Mr Nene however stated that he knew that Heads of States could not make 

appointments on behalf of the BRICS Bank. The appointment of Mr Nene to 

the African Regional Centre of the BRICS Bank never materialised. 

 

Interview with Minister Gordhan 

 

5.19. I further interviewed the Minister of Finance, Mr Pravin Gordhan on 12 September 

2016 to establish if Mr Jonas had discussed the alleged Cabinet post offer with him. 

Mr Gordhan stated the following: 

 

a) Mr Jonas informed him prior to the removal of former Minister of Finance Mr 

Nene that he had something bothering him but never went into details; 

 

b) After his re-appointment which followed the removal of Mr Nene, Mr Jonas 

visited his office and shared the details of his visit to the Gupta family 

residence with him; 

 

c) Mr Jonas informed him that he was offered a Cabinet post by one of the 

Gupta family brothers; 

 

d) He stated that they informed him they made R6 billion from the State and 

wanted to increase it to R8 billion; 

 

e) Mr Jonas informed him that he declined the offer; 

 

f) He met with the President Zuma on 13 December 2015 and the President 

wanted him to become the Minister of Finance as the markets needed to be 

stabilized or settled; 
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g) He agreed and the appointment was finalised on 14 December 2015; 

 

h) Upon taking over the role of Finance Minister, staff at National Treasury 

informed him that on 11 December 2015, the former Minister of Finance Mr 

Van Rooyen arrived at National Treasury with Ian Whitley and Mohammed 

Bobat as advisors; and 

 

i) Mr Van Rooyenôs advisors apparently started asking for information on the 

SAA Airbus swap deal, amongst others. 

 

Interview with Mr Maseko 

 

5.20. I Interviewed the former CEO of Government Communications and Information 

System (ñGCISò), Mr Maseko on 17 August 2016 to understand allegations 

attributed to him in the media regarding the Gupta family. He informed me of the 

following: 

 

a) In late 2010, he received numerous requests from members of the Gupta 

family for a meeting to which he finally agreed; 

 

b) On his way to the meeting and as he was driving out of the GCIS building in 

Pretoria, he received a call from a Personal Assistant at Mahlamba Ndlopfu 

(Official residence of the President) saying: ñUbaba ufuna ukukhuluma 

naweò (loosely translated, the President wants to talk to you); 

 

c) The President came on the line. He greeted me and said: ñKuna labafana 

bakwaGupta badinga uncedo lwakho. Ngicela ubancedeò (loosely 

translated, the Gupta brothers need your help, please help them); 
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d) Mr Maseko said he informed President Zuma that he was already on his 

way to the Saxonwold residence of the Gupta family and the President 

Zuma responded: "Kulungile ke baba (It's fine then)"; 

 

e) Mr Maseko met with Mr Ajay Gupta and one of his brothers, whose name 

he could not recall; 

 

f) During the meeting, Mr Ajay Gupta said to him, we are setting up a 

newspaper called The New Age. I want government advertising channeled 

to the newspaper; 

 

g) As GCIS CEO, Maseko was in charge of a media buying budget of just over 

R600-million a year; 

 

h) Mr Maseko apparently informed Mr Ajay Gupta that GCIS performs a 

market research and decides on the client's target market before selecting 

the right medium of advertising; 

 

i) He further informed Mr Ajay Gupta that GCIS did not have the advertising 

budget and that it was with the various departments; 

 

j) According to Maseko, Mr Ajay Gupta said this was not a problem as he 

would instruct the departments to advertise in the newspaper; 

 

k) Mr Ajay Gupta apparently stated that tell us ñwhere the funds are and inform 

the departments to provide the funds to you and if they refuse, we will deal 

with them. If you have a problem with any department, we will summon 

ministers hereò; 
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l) Mr Maseko stated that he was unhappy with Mr Ajay Guptaôs comments 

that his family would deal with uncooperative ministers; 

 

m) Mr Maseko stated that a few weeks later, he received a call from a senior 

staffer at The New Age newspaper who demanded a meeting with him. It 

was on a Friday and Mr Maseko was on his way to the Nedbank Golf 

Challenge in Sun City. He apparently requested the newspaper employee 

to make an appointment with his office on Monday; 

 

n) The said employee apparently said to Mr Maseko, " I am not asking you. I 

am telling you. The meeting has to happen. It is urgent because of the 

launch of the newspaper.ò This was followed by a call from Mr A. Gupta an 

hour later. He apparently demanded a meeting the next day, which was a 

Saturday. Mr Maseko stated that he informed Mr A. Gupta that he was on 

his way to Sun City for a golf tournament and they could arrange the 

meeting on Monday; and 

 

o) Mr A. Gupta said to Mr Maseko, ñI will talk to your seniors in government 

and you will be sorted outò. He apparently said we will replace you with 

people who will co-operate. 

 

5.21. I obtained and analysed the telephone records of persons implicated by Mr Jonas to 

corroborate his statements. Mr Jonas further made available his mobile phone 

which he used at the time for the inspection and analysis of the contents. In this 

regard, I secured via subpoena, telephone records of the following persons in terms 

of Section 7(4) and 7(5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994: 

 

a) Mr Jonas; 

 
b) Mr D. Zuma; and 
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c) Mr Hlongwane. 

 

5.22. I further secured via subpoena, telephone records of Mr Van Rooyen in terms of 

Section 7(4) and 7(5) of the Public Protector Act, 1994. 

 

5.23. My analysis of the above telephone records and Mr Jonas mobile phone showed 

the following: 

 

a) Mr Jonas created Mr D. Zuma as a ñcontactò on his mobile phone on 17 

October 2015 at 3:55:35 PM; 

 

b) Prior to that, Mr Jonas had never communicated with Mr D. Zuma using the 

mobile number provided to us; 

 

c) Communication between Mr Jonas and Mr D. Zuma commenced on 17 

October 2015 at 5:31:20 PM; 

 

d) Communication between them continued, mostly via text messages until 26 

October 2016; 

 

e) A summary of the text messages made available to me are shown below: 

 

Mr Jonas ï 17 October 2015 

 

 

 

Mr Jonas 19 October 2015 
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Mr D. Zuma ï 22 October 2015 

 

 

 

Mr Jonas ï 23 October 2016 
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Mr D. Zuma ï 23 October 2016 

 

 

 

Mr Jonas ï 23 October 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

Mr D. Zuma ï 23 October 2016 

 

 

 

Mr D. Zuma ï 25 October 2016 
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Mr Jonas ï 26 October 2016 

 

 

 

f) The telephone records show that both Mr Jonas and Mr D. Zuma were at 

the Hyatt Regency Hotel on 23 October 2016 between 1:00 and 2:00 PM; 

 

g) The records further show that there were calls between Mr D. Zuma and Mr 

Hlongwane on 23 October 2916 between 12:56 and 13:25 PM; 

 

h) There were also calls between Mr Jonas and Mr Hlongwane on 23 October 

2016 between 13:12 and 19:52 PM; 

 

i) The telephone records show that Mr D. Zuma was at Saxonwold on 23 

October 2016 from 14:00 PM to 17:10 PM; 

 

j) The records show that Mr Hlongwane was also at Saxonwold on 23 

October 2016 from 14:02 PM to 15:19 PM; and 
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k) The telephone records show that Mr Jonas was at the airport on at 16:42:33 

PM on the same date. 

 

5.24. The above telephone communication appears to confirm Mr Jonas version of events 

that prior to October 2015, he had never communicated with Mr D. Zuma. 

 

a) The records further appear to confirm his version of events that he met with 

Mr D. Zuma at the Hyatt Regency Hotel in Rosebank who later transported 

him to Saxonwold. 

 

b) Whilst the records place both Mr Hlongwane and Mr D. Zuma at 

Saxonwold, they did not show Mr Jonas at the same location. The records 

however show that Mr Jonas was at the airport later on the same date, 

which also confirms his version of events. According to the cellular network 

companies, there needs to be a billable event for a tower location to be 

recorded. 

 

c) I am yet to interview both Mr Hlongwane and Mr D. Zuma to obtain their 

version of events. 

 

d) Having had regard to the wider allegations including the allegations that 

members of the Gupta family are involved in the appointment of Cabinet 

members, I reviewed the telephone records of Mr Van Rooyen to establish 

his whereabouts on 8 December 2015, the day Mr Nene was informed by 

President Zuma that he will be removed as Minister of Finance. 

 

e) The telephone records show that Mr Van Rooyen was at Saxonwold on 8 

December 2015. The records further show that Mr Van Rooyen frequently 
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visits Saxonwold. Below is a reflection of calls made by Minister Van 

Rooyen while at Saxonwold: 
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5.25. Mr Ajay Gupta denied that Mr Van Rooyen visits his residence during my interview 

with him. 

 

 

 

5.26. I received unsolicited letter from Mr Hlongwane on 29 September 2016 relating to 

the investigation. The title of Mr Hlongwaneôs letter ñInvestigation into complaints of 

improper and unethical conduct by the President and officials of state organs due to 

their alleged inappropriate relationship with members of the Gupta familyò is 

consistent with the title I have used in all my correspondence relating to the 

investigation. This indicates that Mr Hlongwane has had access to one of my official 

documents relating to the investigation prior to any correspondence with my office. 

The letter is summarised below: 

 

a) The letter states ñWith respect to the alleged meeting involving Deputy 

Finance Minister Jonas, I had been made aware (by Duduzane Zuma) that 

Deputy Finance Minister had made statements that I was blackmailing him. 

I asked Duduzane Zuma to urgently convene a meeting between the three 

of usò; 

 

b) ñDuduzane duly convened the meeting at the Rosebank Hyatt. Prior to my 

arrival, I interrupted the meeting by calling Duduzane to speak to Deputy 

Minister Jonas. In that conversation with Deputy Minster Jonas, I proposed 

we move that meeting to a private venue. All parties agreed to thisò; 

 

c) ñAt the private venue, the blackmail story was specifically raised with 

Deputy Finance Minister Jonas. He (Jonas) stated that he had no 

recollection of any such blackmail conversations with anyone.ò  
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d) During the discussion, a Gupta family member entered the room briefly and 

then left. I categorically deny that there was ever a discussion or offer, by 

anybody, of any government position to Deputy Minister Jonas. No 

commercial discussion took place either.ò 

 

 

Interview with Mr Hlongwane 

 

5.27. I interviewed Mr Hlongwane on 11 October 2016 and he confirmed the above 

statements. In addition, Mr Hlongwane stated the following: 

 

a) He provided Mr D. Zuma with Mr Jonas number for purposes of inviting him 

to the ñSATYò awards; 

 

b) He had known Mr D. Zuma for a while and he is an ñuncleò to him; 

 

c) He had also known Mr Jonas as a friend and comrade; 

 

d) He has no relationship with President Zuma; 

 

e) Member of the Gupta family are his casual acquaintances and he does not 

have a business relationship with them; 

 

f) He confirmed that the meeting between Mr Jonas, Mr D. Zuma and him 

took place at the Gupta family residence in Saxonwold on 23 October 2015; 

 

g) He denies that Mr Jonas was offered a Cabinet post during the meeting; 

and 
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h) He also denies that he drove Mr Jonas to the airport and that they had 

agreed to have a further meeting. 

 

The Presidentôs Case 

 

5.28. I met with the President on 6 October 2016 to solicit his response to the above 

allegations. He did not respond to any of my questions. 

 

CONTRACTS AWARDED BY ESKOM TO TEGETA 

 
5.29. Ownership of a coal mine opens the possibility to exporting coal to foreign markets 

to meet the energy requirements of other countries. As a result, Eskomôs strategic 

objectives, financial resources and size of market share has positioned the SOE as 

a óking makerô in the coal mining industry. 

 
5.30. In line with the PFMA an SOE must take care in exercising its influence over the 

industry its ambit falls within and act in a responsible, ethical and fair manner that 

furthers the transformation objectives of the country as a whole. 

 
5.31. Being an accounting institution as defined in the PFMA, Eskomôs and its 

leadershipôs first responsibility is to the entity itself, and they must ensure that the 

SOE implements its strategies and operations in a manner that is compliant with 

laws and regulations of the country. 

 

5.32. Eskomôs and its leadershipôs first responsibility is to the entity itself, and they must 

ensure that the SOE implements its strategies and operations in a manner that is 

compliant with laws and regulations of the country. 

 

5.33. Eskom also has a responsibility to manage conflicts of interest in the business. 

Conflicts of interest are common in SOEs, thus, the effective management of the 

risks that can arise is crucial in successfully managing the SOE. A conflict of 
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interest exists if an employee is in a position to make or influence a decision about 

whether and how to proceed with a proposed transaction, and has an affiliation with 

any other party to the transaction. An apparent conflict is one that a member of the 

public might reasonably believe might cause an employeeôs decision to be tainted 

by self-interest. 

 

5.34. Eskom falls under the portfolio of the Department of Public Enterprise, it is important 

for an SOE to manage conflicts of interests and act in accordance with the 

Constitution and the PFMA. 

 

5.35. The same conditions would apply should the stakeholder be required to perform 

specific statutory functions defined in legislation e.g. Section 11 of the Mineral 

Petroleum Resource Development Act, which states that a mining or a prospecting 

right may not be transferred from one company to another without the Minister of 

Mineral Resources written consent. 

 

5.36. Eskom Conflict of Interest Policy 32-173, was signed by the Chairman of the Board, 

Mr Zola Tsotsi, on 29 August 2014. 

 

5.37. The policy statement states as follows: 

 

a) ñEskom subscribes to ethical values and legal principles. This requires that 

Eskom, its directors, employees, customers, and suppliers act with integrity 

and create public confidence by conducting business in a fair, impartial and 

transparent manner. For this reason, Eskom makes every effort to ensure 

that conflicts of interest do not compromise or are not perceived to 

compromise its business decisions and actions. 

b) Eskom is also committed to fair, objective and transparent business 

dealings, and for this reason care must be taken when accepting or offering 

any business courtesies. Business courtesies are used to build good 
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relationships and are offered as a kind gesture and to show courteousness 

or respect and may only be offered or accepted for these reasons. 

 

c) The employee and director have the obligation to declare and manage 

conflicts of interest. This process is critical to ensure that the objectivity and 

integrity of the employee or director are not compromised, that the 

employee or director acts in Eskomôs best interest, and that Eskom avoids 

situations where it can be accused of improper or unfair conduct.ò 

 

5.38. Paragraph 2.2.19 states as follows: ñRelated parties of employees must not engage 

in, nor have interests in any Eskom contract where there is a conflict of interest. 

This includes third-party related transactions with an indirect link to an Eskom 

contract (for example, having a personal or other interest in a business that has an 

interest in a Supplier to Eskom).ò 

 

5.39. The word ñRelatedò is defined in paragraph 3.3.17: 

 

(1) When used in respect of two persons, means persons who are connected to 

one another in any manner contemplated below: 

(a) an individual is related to another individual if they,  

(i) are married, or live together in a relationship similar to a marriage; 

or 

(ii) are separated by no more than two degrees of natural or adopted 

consanguinity or affinity; 

(b) an individual is related to a juristic person if the individual directly or 

indirectly controls the juristic person, as determined in accordance with 

the definition of control as set out in subsection (2) below; and 

(c) a juristic person is related to another juristic person ifð 
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(i) either of them directly or indirectly controls the other, or the 

business of the other, as determined in accordance with 

subsection (2) below; 

(ii) either is a subsidiary of the other; or 

(iii) a person directly or indirectly controls each of them, or the 

business of each of them, as determined in accordance with 

subsection (2) below.ò 

 

5.40. Paragraph 3.5 deals with Roles and Responsibilities, 3.5.1 and 3.5.2 reads as 

follows: 

 

a) Managers and directors need to be aware that their seniority results in 

perceptions of conflict more readily, and their conduct is, therefore, subject to 

greater scrutiny. 

 

b) Directors must exercise the powers and perform the functions of a director in 

good faith and for a proper purpose; in the best interests of the company; 

and with the degree of care, skill and diligence that may reasonably be 

expected of a person carrying out the same functions in relation to the 

company as those carried out by that director and having the general 

knowledge, skill and experience of that director.ò 

 
5.41. In order to adequately investigate the possible conflicts of interest I performed 

extensive due diligence searches on individuals within Eskom as well as individuals 

who are a party to transactions which will be discussed later in this report. 

 

5.42. The ownership structure of Tegeta is comprised as follows: 

 

a) 29.05% owned by Oakbay Investments (Pty) Ltd13 (2006/017975/07) 

(ñOakbayò). OAKBAY owns 79.99% in Oakbay Resources and Energy Ltd 

(2009/021537/06) (ñOREò). Atul GUPTA owns 64% of ORE which is held 
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through his shareholding in OAKBAY and Islandsite Investments 18015 (Pty) 

Ltd. 

 

b) 28.53% owned by Mabengela Investments (Pty) Ltd16 (2008/014606/07) 

(ñMabengelaò). Mabengela is owned by: 

 

i. Duduzane ZUMA - 45%; 

 

ii. Rajesh Kumar GUPTA - 25%; 

 

iii. Aerohaven Trading (Pty) Ltd - 15%; 

 

iv. Fidelity Investment (Incorporated in the UAE) (ñFidelityò)- 10%; 

 

v. Mfazi Investments (Pty) Ltd - 3%; and 

 

vi. Ashu Chawla - 2%. 

 

c) 12.91% owned by Fidelity. 

 

d) 8.01%Accurate Investments Ltd (Incorporated in the UAE) (ñAccurateò) 

 

e) 21.5% owned by Elgasolve (Pty) Ltd17 (2010/017836/07) (ñElgasolveò). The 

sole director of Elgasolve is Salim Aziz Essa (ñMr Essaò) (ID 

7801155017084). 

 

5.43. The table below summarises that shareholding of Tegeta: 

No Name of Entity Percentage of shareholding 
 

1 Oakbay 29.05% 

2 Mabengela 28.53% 

3 Fidelity 12.91% 
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4 Accurate 8.01 

5 Elgasolve 21.5% 

Total 100% 

 

5.44. The directors of Tegeta are: 

No 
 

Name of director 

1 Seedy Momodou Lette 

2 Ravindra Nath 

3 Nazeem Howa 

4 Ashu Chawla 

5 Rajeneesh Pahadia 

6 Ronica Ragavan 

 

5.45. Centaur Mining South Africa (Pty) Ltd (ñCentaurò) is registered in South Africa and 

is a subsidiary of Centaur Holdings Ltd which is registered in the UAE. In 2016, 

Centaur signed a $100,000,000.00 (R1,500,000,000.00) revolving credit deal with 

an anonymous UAE-based family to expand its mining and natural resources 

projects in South Africa. Centaur also purchased the De Roodepoort coal mines in 

Mpumalanga during 2016. Centaur is one of the entities which contributed to the 

purchase price of OCH. 

 

5.46. The directors of Centaur are 

No 
 

Name of director Country of Origin 

1 Aakash Garg Jahajgarhia (married to the 
daughter of Anil Kumar Gupta) 

Indian citizen 

2 Simon James Hoyle UK citizen 

3 Daniel James Mcgowan UAE resident 

4 David Barnett Silver South African  

 

5.47. Trillian Capital Partners (Pty) Ltd (2015/111759/07) (ñTCPò) is a diversified financial 

services and advisory firm with expertise in the fields of finance, management 

consulting, asset management, securities, engineering and property. TCP has 

various subsidiaries and has two major shareholders, namely Trillian Holdings (Pty) 

Ltd (ñTrillian Holdingsò) (2015/168302/07) with 60% shareholding and Zara W 

(Pty) Ltd (ñZaraò) (2011/104773/07) with 25% shareholding. The remaining 15% is 
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held by employees and other smaller shareholders. TCP is one of the entities which 

contributed to the purchase price of OCH. 

 

5.48. The directors of TCP are: 

No 
 

Name of director 

1 Jeffrey Irvine Afriat 

2 Tebogo Leballo 

3 Eric Anthony Wood 

 
5.49. The sole director of Trillian Holdings is Mr Essa, who also owns 21.5% of Tegeta 

through his company Elgasolve. 

 

5.50. The sole director of Zara is Mr Eric Anthony Wood (ñMr Woodò), Mr Wood is also a 

director in TCP. 

 

5.51. Regiments Capital (Pty) Ltd (ñRegimentsò) (2004/023761/07) is one of the entities 

which contributed to the purchase price of OCH. 

 

5.52. The directors of REGIMENTS are: 

No 
 

Name of director 

1 Lithia Mveliso Nyhonyha 

2 Magandheran Pillay 

3 Eric Anthony Wood 

 
 
Conflict of interest 

 

5.53. A conflict of interest is a situation in which a person or organisation is involved in 

multiple interests, financial interest, or otherwise, one of which could possibly 

corrupt the motivation of the individual or organisation. 

 

5.54. The presence of a conflict of interest is independent of the occurrence of 

impropriety. A widely used definition is: "A conflict of interest is a set of 
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circumstances that creates a risk that professional judgement or actions regarding a 

primary interest will be unduly influenced by a secondary interest.ò 

 

5.55. Primary interest refers to the principal goals of the profession or activity, such as the 

protection of clients, the health of patients, the integrity of research, and the duties 

of public office. 

 

5.56. Secondary interest includes not only financial gain but also such motives as the 

desire for professional advancement and the wish to do favours for family and 

friends, but conflict of interest rules usually focus on financial relationships because 

they are relatively more objective, fungible, and quantifiable. 

 

5.57. The secondary interests are not treated as wrong in themselves, but become 

objectionable when they are believed to have greater weight than the primary 

interests.  

 

5.58. The conflict in a conflict of interest exists whether or not a particular individual is 

actually influenced by the secondary interest. It exists if the circumstances are 

reasonably believed (on the basis of past experience and objective evidence) to 

create a risk that decisions may be unduly influenced by secondary interests. 

 

5.59. OVERSIGHT AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN STATE OWNED ENTERPRISES 

 

5.60. SOEôs are institutions/entities through which the Executive delivers on services. The 

Executive Authority (Responsible Minister) plays various roles in its relationship with 

the SOEs. On one hand, Government as an owner and shareholder is concerned 

with obtaining a suitable return on investments, and ensuring the financial viability of 

the SOE. On the other hand, Government as policymaker is concerned with the 

policy implementation of service delivery. Finally, Government as regulator is 
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concerned with the industry practices of SOEs, pricing structures, and the interests 

of consumers. 

 

5.61. The process to select and recommend a person to a SOE board is unclear and 

undefined in government protocols, safe to say the process is not without 

appointments that conflict personal and official interest. 

 

5.62. The Executive Authorityôs corporate governance responsibility as shareholder, 

involves ensuring that, from the Board of directors downwards, and also in respect 

of accountability of the Board upwards to the shareholder, all the necessary and 

appropriate corporate governance structures, procedures, practices and controls 

and safeguards, are established, properly implemented and operate effectively in 

the SOE concerned. 

 

5.63. It is for these reasons that when a Minister recommends a board, his/her mind must 

be applied to select suitable individuals that would reduce the levels of conflicting 

interest. 

 

5.64. It is important for the executive authority of the SOE (shareholder) and Cabinet to 

consider whether there are conflicts that may influence the objective performance of 

the Board and whether: 

 
a) A board member might make a financial gain, or avoid a financial loss, at the 

expense of the SOE. 

 

b) There is an interest in the outcome of a service or contract that will be awarded by 

the SOE, and whether the Board member would have access to sensitive or 

privileged information. 

 

c) There are Board members that receive financial or other incentives to favour the 

interest of a particular party, over the interests of the SOE. 
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d) If a member of the Board receives or will receive from a person other than the 

SOE, an inducement in relation to a service provided to the SOE in the form of 

money, goods or services, other than the salary the employer receives for his role 

in the SOE. 

 

5.65. If such scenarios arise, the shareholder (in this case the government and the 

Minister of Public Enterprise) should take steps to mitigate the risks posed to the 

SOE. 

 

5.66. I further noted Eskom Minutes of the Board Tender Committee Meeting No 07/2014 

in the Huvo Nkulu Boardroom, Megawatt Park on 12 August 2014 at 07:30.  

 
5.67. Page 12 of the minutes reads as follows: ñPegasus Risk Consulting had been 

requested to provide probity checks on Optimum Coal Mine (Pty) Ltd (ñOptimum 

Coalò). The Auditors reported that they were unable to confirm the shareholding of 

the Deputy President in one of the holding companies called Lexshell 849 (Pty) 

Limited. This rendered their finding inconclusive. It was submitted that the purpose 

of probity checks was that there should not be real or perceived bias. The fact that 

Eskom had a contract with a company in which the countryôs Deputy President was 

a shareholders may lead to perceived bias, but it was submitted that there was an 

existing contract between Optimum and Eskom, which would run until 2018. This 

contract had been concluded prior to the Deputy President assuming that role but 

the perception in the mind of the public would have to be managed.ò 

 
5.68. At the time of the above mentioned board meeting, the Eskom board was as 

follows: 

Name 
 

Position 

Mr Zola Tsotsi Chairperson 

Mr Collin M Matjila Acting Chief Executive 

Ms Tsholofelo Molefe Finance Director 

Ms Queendy Gungubele Independent Non-Executive Director 
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Dr Bernard Lewis Fanaroff Independent Non-Executive Director 

Ms Neo Lesela Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr Mafika Mkhwanazi Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr Phenyane Sedibe Independent Non-Executive Director 

Ms Lily Zondo Independent Non-Executive Director 

Ms Chwayita Mabude Independent Non-Executive Director 

Ms Yasmin Masithela Independent Non-Executive Director 

Ms Bajabulie Luthuli Independent Non-Executive Director 

Dr Boni Mehlomakulu Independent Non-Executive Director 

 
5.69. The Board of Eskom as mentioned above, made a concerted effort to manage any 

and all conflicts that may arise, be it an actual conflict or a perceived conflict. 

 

The Minister of Public Enterprises and the Board of Eskom 

 

5.70. In December 2014 Cabinet announced the details of appointed members to 

Eskomôs Board. Eskomôs articles stipulate that the shareholder (Executive Authority 

- Public Enterprises Department) will, after consulting the board, appoint a 

Chairman, Chief Executive and Non-Executive Directors. The remaining Executive 

Directors are appointed by the Board after obtaining shareholder approval. 

 

5.71. The Board of Eskom was recommended by Minister Lynn Brown and appointed by 

Cabinet during September 2015. The Eskom Board at the time of the purchase of 

OCH, as well as the awarding of certain contracts to Tegeta, consisted of twelve 

individuals, namely: 

 

Name 
 

Appointment Date Position 

Brian Molefe 2015-10-01 Chief Executive Officer 

Anoj Singh 2015-10-01 Chief Financial Officer 

Zethembe Wilfred Khoza 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Nazia Carrim 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Suzanne Margaret 
Daniels 

2015-05-25 Company Secretary 

Venete Jarlene Klein 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Giovanni Michele 
Leonardi (Swiss) 

2015-05-25 Non-Executive Director 

Chwayita Mabude 2011-06-26 Non-Executive Director 

Devapushpum Naidoo 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 
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Pathmanathan Naidoo 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Baldwin Sipho Ngubane 2014-12-11 Chairperson 

Mark Vivian Pamensky 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Romeo Khumalo 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Mariam Cassim Not known Non-Executive Director 

 

5.72. These individuals constituted the governing body of Eskom. They had absolute 

responsibility for the performance of the SOE and is fully accountable for the 

performance of the SOE. Governance principles regarding the role and 

responsibility of SOE Boards are contained in the PFMA and the Protocol on 

Corporate Governance. 

 

5.73. The Board of Eskom appointed in December 2014 consisted predominately of 

individuals with direct and indirect business or personal relations with Mr D. Zuma, 

the Gupta family and their related associates, including Mr Essa. 

 
The following members of the Board as at 1 April 2016 have identified 
conflicts of interest: 

 
5.74. Dr Baldwin Ngubane (ñMr Ngubaneò) is a director of Gade Oil and Gas (Pty) Ltd 

(ñGade Oilò)(2013/083265/07). Mr Essa was a previous director of this entity. 

 

5.75. Mr Mark Pamensky (ñMr Pamenskyò) is/was a director of the following entities: 

Name of Entity Registration 
Number 

Comment/ Observation 

ORE (Mentioned above) 2009/021537/06 Mr Atul Gupta owns 64% of this entity 

Shiva Uranium (Pty) Ltd (ñShiva 
Uraniumò) 

1921/006955/07 ¶ ORE has a 74% shareholding in Shiva 
Uranium.  

¶ Tegeta has a 19.6% shareholding in 
Shiva Uranium. 

Yellow Star Trading 1099 (Pty) 
Ltd 

2000/020259/07 Mr Essa was a director of this entity. 

B I T Information Technology 
(Pty) Ltd 

2003/022444/07 ¶ Mr Pamensky was a previous director. 

¶ Kubentheran Moodley (ñMr Moodleyò) is 
also a director of this entity and is the 
spouse3 of ESKOM board member Ms 
Viroshini Naidoo. 

¶ Mr Moodley is a special advisor to the 
Minister of Mineral Resources and is 
the sole director of Albatime (Pty) Ltd 
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(2009/0211474/07)(ñAlbatimeò). 
ALBATIME is one of the entities which 
contributed to the purchase price of 
OCH. 

 

5.76. Public records confirm that Mr Pamensky has direct business interests in ORE and 

Shiva Uranium for which he received economic benefit. Mr Pamensky is also a 

member of Eskomôs Board. By virtue of officio function and role in Eskom he would 

have or could have access to privilege or sensitive information regarding OCH and 

various Eskom Contracts. Such information coupled with a personal economic 

interest would give Tegeta an unfair advantage over other interested buyers. It 

would be very important to understand the role of this individual in this transaction in 

light of a high degree of irregularities that appears to have occurred in Eskom. 

 

5.77. Ms Devapushpum Viroshini Naidoo (ñMs D Naidooò) is the spouse of Mr Moodley, 

who is the director of Albatime. As mentioned above Albatime contributed to the 

purchase of OCH. 

 

5.78. Nazia Carrim (ñMs Carrimò) is the spouse of Muhammed Sikander Noor Hussain 

(ñMr Hussainò). Mr Hussain is a family member of Mr Essa. Ms Carrim has since 

resigned from the Board of Eskom. 

 

5.79. Mr Romeo Khumalo (ñMr Khumaloò) resigned from the board of Eskom in April 

2016. Mr Khumalo and Mr Essa were directors of Ujiri Technologies (Pty) Ltd 

(2011/010963/07). Mr Khumalo has since resigned from the Board of Eskom. 

 

5.80. Ms Marriam Cassimôs (ñMs Cassimò) employment background states Sahara 

Computers (1997/015590/07), a 90% owned subsidiary of Sahara Holdings, as a 

previous employer. Ms Cassim has since resigned from the Board of Eskom. 

 

5.81. The following was declared by the Eskom Board members in relation to the above 

mentioned conflicts identified: 
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5.82. Ms D Naidoo, in her declaration made on 19 February 2016, lists her husband as 

Mr K Moodley who is a part time advisor to the Minister of Mineral Resources and 

declares that this may be a conflict if she is in a forum at Eskom which seeks to 

influence the Governments mineral policy. Ms D Nadioo, lists herself as an 

employee of Albatime. This is as per her declaration made on 19 February 2016 

and 31 May 2016. 

 

5.83. Mr Ngubane does not list himself as a director of Gade Oil in his declaration made 

on 31 May 2016. 

 

5.84. Ms Carrim did not declare her relationship with Mr Essa in her declaration made on 

31 May 2016. 

 

5.85. Ms Cassim does not list Sahara Computers has her previous employers. 

 

5.86. Mr Pamensky does declare all his directoships held in ORE, Yellow Star Trading 

and BIT Information Technology. Mr Pamensky further states that he does not take 

part in any HR or procurement related activities. 

 

Miniutes of the Board Committee Meeting (08/2015) held on 10 February 2016 

in the Huvo Nkulu Boardroom at 09:00 

 

5.87. The board members present during this meeting were. Mr Z Khoza, Ms C Mabude, 

Ms D Naidoo and Ms N Carrim. 

 

5.88. No interests were declared pertaining to matters on the agenda. 

 

5.89. The board approved the sale of shares in OCM to Tegeta and released OCH from 

the guarantee given to Eskom. 
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5.90. It was also resolved that the CSA between OCH and Eskom be ceded to Tegeta.  

 

Minutes of the Special Eskom Board Tender Committee Meeting 09-2015/16 held at 

the Huvo Nkulu Boardroom on 07 March 2016 at 18H00 

 

5.91. The board members present during this meeting were. Mr Z Khoza, Ms C Mabude, 

Ms D Naidoo and Ms N Carrim. 

 

5.92. Ms D Naidoo in this meeting, declared that her husband was an advisor to the 

Minister of Mineral Resources, it was agreed that this posed no conflict in relation to 

the items on the agenda. 

 

5.93. A mandate was given to negotiate coal supply agreements with coal suppliers for 

the supply of coal to Arnot power. 

 

5.94. Cellular phone record analysis 

 

5.95. With a view to establishing relationships between individuals as well as potential 

conflicts of interest, I obtained the numbers of Mr Brian Molefe (ñMr Molefeò), Mr 

Ajay Gupta, Ms Ronica Ragavan (ñMs Ragavanò), Mr Nazeem Howa (ñMr Howaò), 

Mr Rajest Gupta, Mr D Zuma, Mr Atul Gupta and The Minister of Mineral 

Resources, Mosebenzi Zwane (ñMinister Zwaneò). 

 

5.96. The following can be noted with regards to Mr Molefe and Mr Ajay Gupta: 
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5.97. The above illustrates that between the period 2 August 2015 and 22 March 2016 Mr 

Molefe has called Mr Ajay Gupta a total of 44 times and Mr Ajay Gupta has called 

Mr Molefe a total of 14 times. 

 

5.98. Between 23 March 2016 and 30 April 2016, Ms Ragavan made 11 calls to Mr 

Molefe and sent 4 text messages to him. Of the calls made, 7 were made between 

9 April 2016 and 12 April 2016. This includes one call made on 11 April 2016. 

 

5.99. The following diagram depicts the number of instances placing Mr Molefe within the 

Saxonwold area:  

 

 

5.100. For the period 5 August 2015 to 17 November 2015, Mr Molefe can be placed in the 

Saxonwold area on 19 occasions. 
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5.101. The diagram below, further depicts instances of contact between Mr Molefe, Mr 

Howa, Mr Rajesh Kumar Gupta and Mr Atul Gupta: 

 

 

 

 

Conflict of interest by the Minister of Mineral Resources 

 

5.102. Minister Zwane, is responsible for ensuring policymaking and policy implementation 

of service delivery for ESKOM. He also oversees the regulation of the MPRDA. In 

the execution of his functions the Minister relies on advisors. Mr Moodley was an 

advisor during the Tegeta purchase of OCH 

 

5.103. As mentioned earlier, Mr Moodley is married to Ms Naidoo (Eskom Board member). 

His role in the Tegeta acquisition of OCH remained unknown until it was established 

that his company Albatime made payments for the benefit of Tegeta towards the 

acquisition of OCH. 

 

5.104. Media, business and politicians have questioned the role of the Minister Zwane in a 

Tegeta, OCH deal. In an article styled ñZwane denies joining Guptas on trip to 
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Switzerlandò which was published on 25 May 2016, it was stated that Minister 

Zwane had met with Glencore CEO Mr Ivan Glasenberg at the Dolder Grand Hotel 

in Zurich. 

 

5.105. Travel records obtained from Emirates Airlines confirm that Minister Zwaneôs travel 

itinerary for a trip undertaken between 29 November 2015 to 7 December 2015, 

which includes whether or not the flight was boarded, is as follows: 

 

Flight details 
 

Date of flight Ticket number Flown/Unused 

Johannesburg to Dubai 29 November 2015 1769244673469 Flown 

Dubai to Zurich 30 November 2015 1769244673469 Flown 

Zurich to Dubai 02 December 2015 1769244673469 Unused 

Dubai to Delhi 03 December 2015 1769244673469 Unused 

Delhi to Dubai 05 December 2015 1769244673469 Unused 

Dubai to Johannesburg 07 December 2015 1769244673469 Unused 

Dubai to Johannesburg 07 December 2015 1769244734145 Flown 

 
 

5.106. The total cost breakdown for the trip is as follows: 

 

Ticket number 
 

Amount 

1769244673469 R 52,400.00 

1769244734145 R 44,230.00 

Total R 96,630.00 

 

5.107. It is unclear as to why Minister Zwane did not board his flights from 2 December 

2015 to 5 December 2015. It is further unclear as to why an additional flight was 

booked from Dubai to Johannesburg on 7 December 2015. However, I still need to 

interview Minister Zwane in this regard. 

 

5.108. What is further peculiar is how Minister Zwane, managed to reach Dubai on 7 

December 2015 as there are no flight details for him travelling from Zurich to Dubai. 

 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

126 
 

5.109. If Minister Zwane did in fact travel officially to meet Mr Glasenberg, it would imply 

that his travel and reason for travel would have been authorised by the president. 

 

5.110. I have also received information from an independent source that Minister Zwane 

did in fact meet with Mr Glasenberg in Switzerland at the Dolder Hotel around 30 

November 2015 to 5 December 2015. The other individuals present during said 

meeting/s was Mr Rajesh (Tony) Gupta) as well as Mr Essa. 

 

Tegeta & Eskom 

 

5.111. Media reports have speculated how it came to be that Tegeta was awarded 

contracts with Eskom. 

 

5.112. In order to refute and/or prove the allegations surrounding the awarding of contracts 

to Tegeta and the alleged preference which has been given to them, I performed an 

extensive review of all documentation received from various individuals and/or 

entities. 

 
5.113. In addition to information received from various other individuals, the bulk of the 

information was received was from Eskom, it should be noted that Eskom has 

reserved their right to supplement the information supplied to my office and as such 

the information presented below represents what I received from Eskom. 

 

5.114. I noted a report from National Treasury signed 12 April 2016 by Mr Kenneth Brown, 

Chief Procurement Officer in National Treasury, titled REPORT ON THE 

VERIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH TREASURY NORMS AND STANDARDS 

ï APPOINTMENT OF TEGETA EXPLORATION AND RESOURCES (PTY) LTD. 

The ensuing paragraphs details the contents of the report as well as the certain 

annexures attached thereto. 
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5.115. This report deals primarily with the supply of coal by Tegeta, from the Brakfontein 

Colliery and Brakfontein Colliery Extension to the Majuba Power Station.  

 
Report received from National Treasury 

 
Minutes of Meeting with Goldridge held on 09 May 2014 
 
 

5.116. The following can be noted with regards to the meeting held on 9 May 2014: 

 

a) Eskom was approached by a company named Goldridge to supply coal to Eskom 

from the Brakfontein and Vierfontein mines. Goldridge stated that they owned 

these mines through Tegeta. 

 

b) Eskom stated that they prefer dealing with companies that are 50% +1 share 

black owned. 

 
Minutes of Meeting with Tegeta held on 10 July 2014 
 
 

5.117. The following can be noted with regards to the meeting held on 10 July 2014: 

 

a) Tegeta stated that it was fined for contravening environmental regulations. 

 
Minutes of Meeting with Tegeta held on 23 September 2014 

 
 

5.118. The following can be noted with regards to the meeting held on 23 September 2014:  

 

a) The combustion test results from Brakfontein Coal is potentially suitable for the 

Kendal, Kriel units 4-6, Lethabo and Matimba Power Stations. 
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b) It was expressly stated that Eskom would only be able to consider a seam 4 

Lower of Brakfontein as the seam 4 Upper did not meet Eskomôs requirements as 

per the sample provided. 

 

c) It was further stated that the Power Stations which could receive coal from 

Brakfontein have all their coal needs met for the financial year. As such an 

agreement between Eskom and Tegeta for the supply of coal can only be 

reached at the earliest on 1 April 2015. 

 

Minutes of Meeting with Tegeta held on 23 January 2015 

 

5.119. The following can be noted with regards to the meeting held on 23 January 2015:  

 

a) It was reiterated that only the seam 4 Lower would be suitable for use at Eskom 

power stations. 

 

b) Tegeta said that it would be difficult to mine only the seam 4 Lower. 

 

c) Eskom requested that Tegeta revise their operations in order to only mine the 

seam 4 Lower. 

 

d) Eskom further expressed concern at the prices offered by Tegeta. Tegeta offered 

a price of R17/GJ for the seam 4 Lower and R15/GJ for the blended product 

(Should be noted that the blended product was stated as not being suitable for 

Eskom). 

 
e) It was agreed that Tegeta would revise their price offering, as well as present 

plans on how to address the quality of the seam 4 Upper. 

 
Minutes of Meeting with Tegeta-Idwala held on 30 January 2015 
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5.120. The following can be noted with regards to the meeting held on 30 January 2015: 

 

a) Eskom stated that the price of coal was too high in comparison to the price of coal 

which is currently being supplied to Majuba Power Station. 

 

b) Eskom stated that any price agreed on between the parties would set new 

standards on the price of coal sold to Eskom. 

 

c) Tegeta requested to call the Eskom board and obtain a mandate to adjust the 

price offer. 

 
d) Tegeta revised their coal offer to 13.50/GJ for a five year contract at 

approximately 65000 tonnes per month. 

 
e) Eskom accepted the Tegeta offer and further stated that the coal must meet all 

technical and combustion requirements of the Majuba Power Station. 

 

f) A coal supply agreement was first signed between Eskom and Tegeta on 10 

March 2015 with the commencement date being 1 April 2015. 

 

5.121. A letter signed on 31 August 2015 was sent to Tegeta from Mr Matshela Koko (ñMr 

Kokoò) of Eskom with title Suspension of Coal Supply: Brakfontein Colliery and 

Brakfontein Colliery Extension. The contents of the letter are as follows: 

 

a) Eskom notes the significant increase in the number of out-of-specification coal 

stockpiles from July to August 2015. During August 2015, 50% of the 

stockpiles have been out of specification resulting in rejection. Further, Eskom 

notes the inconsistency in the laboratory results as the outcome of coal 

samples provided by the mine; and 

 



ñState of Captureò A Report of the Public Protector         
14 October 2016                                                    
 

 

130 
 

b) This is of great concern to Eskom as it now calls into question the exact nature 

and quality of the coal that Brakfontein Colliery and Brakfontein Colliery 

Extension supplies to Eskom in terms of the coal supply agreement; 

 

c) Therefore as a precautionary measure, Eskom hereby notify you of the 

suspension of offtake from the mines in order to investigate the root cause of 

the inconsistency in the coal quality management process; and 

 

d) The suspension will come into effect by 16h00 today. 

 

5.122. Additional letters of suspension, signed 31 August 2015 were also sent to SGS 

Services South Africa Pty Ltd and Sibonisiwe Coal Laboratory Services CC.  

 

5.123. A letter signed on 5 September 2015 was sent to Tegeta from Mr Matshela Koko 

(ñMr Kokoò) of Eskom with title Upliftment of the Suspension of Coal Supply: 

Brakfontein Colliery and Brakfontein Colliery Extension. The content of the letter is 

as follows: 

 

5.124. The above matter and our letter dated 31 August 2015 refer. 

 

a) Eskom hereby lifts the suspension of coal supply from the Brakfontein Colliery 

and Brakfontein Colliery Extension effective immediately whilst it continues its 

investigation into the inconsistencies in the coal quality and management 

process. 

 

b) License in terms of Chapter 4 of the National Water Act, 1998 (Act No. 36 of 

1998)  

 

5.125. This document is the water license issued to Tegeta. It is signed and dated 22 

December 2014.  
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5.126. It should be noted that Tegeta first approached Eskom to supply coal on 9 May 

2014. This is 6 months before it was granted a water license in order to proceed 

with mining. 

 
Findings / Recommendations in the National Treasury Report 

 

5.127. The report from National Treasury makes the following findings and 

recommendations with regards to their investigation: 

 

5.128. There is no evidence to suggest that Tegeta settled the fine which it received from 

the environmental authorities. This was noted in a review of the annual financial 

statements of Tegeta where no mention is made of the any fines imposed on it. 

 

5.129. It is unclear why the coal supply agreement entered into between Eskom and 

Tegeta include the seam 4 Upper, where this was previously deemed unsuitable for 

Eskom. 

 

5.130. Eskom allowed Tegeta to supply the stockpile coal which did not conform to its 

standards. 

 

5.131. There is no evidence to suggest that any remedial action was implemented by 

Eskom in order to rectify the issues identified with the coal being supplied by 

Tegeta. 

 

5.132. National Treasury required Eskom to submit evidence of effective and appropriate 

steps taken to ensure that Tegeta: 

 

a) Supplied and continue to supply coal that conforms to Eskomôs standards; 

 

b) Complied and continue to comply with all obligations under applicable laws; 
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c) Submitted prescribed information to Eskom within 30 days after the publication 

of the annual report; 

 

d) Settled the fine for contravening environmental laws imposed by competent 

authorities; 

 

e) Complied with additional Water Use License requirements;  

 

f) Selectively mined the seam, use a grader to remove the major inseam 

partings and avoid over drilling and blasting to improve the quality of coal; 

 

g) The Accounting Authority must submit evidence of effective and appropriate 

steps taken by Eskom after receiving the SABS coal test results dated 18 

September 2015 which confirmed that Tegetaôs coal do not conform to 

contracted standards; 

 

h) The Accounting Authority must submit evidence of effective and appropriate 

steps taken by Eskom after Tegeta justified its high coal price because of the 

increased BEE shareholding; 

 

i) The Accounting Authority must submit evidence of effective and appropriate 

steps taken by Eskom to ensure compliance with clause 30 of the Coal Supply 

Agreement with regards to the submission of the legislative submission 

associated with compliance by the supplier; and 

 

j) The Accounting Authority must submit evidence of effective and appropriate 

steps taken by Eskom to ensure that Tegeta was not paid for the tons of coal 

that did not comply with its standards. 
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5.133. Apart from the abovementioned report received and reviewed from National 

Treasury, I did not further investigate the award of contracts to Tegeta to supply 

coal to the Majuba Power Station. This will form part of the second phase of the 

investigation and will possibly be included in the subsequent reports to be 

released on these matters. 

 

Glencore / OCH / OCM 

 

5.134. An important and integral part of the investigation is the contracts as well as the 

general business relationship between Eskom and OCH/OCM.  

 

5.135. I would like to point out that I have taken extracts out of each contract and/or 

correspondence which I have deemed relevant for the investigation at hand. 

 
Coal Supply Agreement between Eskom and Trans-Natal Coal Corporation 

Limited and Trans-Natal Collieries Limited 

 

5.136. On 4 January 1993, Eskom entered into a Coal Supply Agreement (ñCSAò) with 

Trans-Natal Coal Corporation Limited and Trans-Natal Collieries Limited 

(Operations of Optimum Collieries were transferred to this holding company). The 

terms of the agreement was inter alia as follows: 

 

5.137. The agreement was for the supply of coal to the Hendrina Power Station. 

 

5.138. The agreement was to run until 31 December 2008, with Eskom having the option 

to extend this agreement to 31 December 2018. 

 
5.139. There were numerous clauses in the agreement which detail the specifications 

and quality of coal required to be supplied. 
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5.140. An important clause to note is that of clause 27 titled ñHardship Clauseò. In 

essence this clause allows either party to raise this clause, should ñrelevant 

circumstancesò arise, and this places an obligation on the other party to enter 

negotiations in order to agree new terms to the agreement and resolve the 

hardship being suffered. In the event negotiations could not be concluded the 

matter should be referred to arbitration. 

 

First Addendum to Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement between Eskom Holdings 

Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings Proprietary Limited and Optimum Coal Mine 

Proprietary Limited 

 

5.141. The details of the First Addendum to the Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement (ñFirst 

Addendumò) are inter alia as follows: 

 

5.142. The purpose of this agreement was to obtain consent from Eskom to the sale of 

Optimum Collieries from BHP Billiton Energy Coal South Africa Ltd (ñBECSAò) to 

OCH and OCM. Furthermore, consent was needed from Eskom for the ñcession 

and delegation by BECSA to OCM, of its rights and obligations in the terms of the 

CSAò. 

 

5.143. Eskom would consent to the cession and delegation on condition that OCH and 

OCM agreed to new terms in relation to the CSA. 

 

5.144. The maximum quantity of coal to be supplied per annum would be 5,500,000 

tonnes. 

 

5.145. The First Addendum also set out new requirements with regards to the quality of 

coal being supplied and specifically a clause which provided that: 
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a) ñ3.4.4 In the event that any of the Parties shall, at any time, be or become 

of the view that the specification clauses 3.4.2 and 3.4.3 shall not be 

properly and/or realistically representative of the cola which Optimum 

Colliery shall reasonably be expected (in the event that it were to conduct 

its operations in a proper manner and in accordance with best industry 

standards) to achieve from the exploitation of the coal deposits constituting 

the Optimum Colliery, such Party shall be entitled to notify them that it 

wishes to re-negotiate such specification. 

 

b) 3.4.5 On being so notified, the other Party shall enter into discussions and 

negotiations in good faith with the first Party, in order to reach agreement 

in respect of the amendment of such specification.  

 
5.146. A further clause in the contract titled ñPayment Rejectionò is important in relation to 

the future deals between Eskom and OCM. Clause 3.6.1.5 states as follows: 

 

a) ñIn the event that any Quality Parameter shall fail to have been met for any 

seven day rolling period, the purchase price payable by Eskom to 

Optimum Colliery in respect of the coal (which shall not comply with the 

Quality Parameters) on the seventh day of such period and/or any 

subsequent consecutive day on which the Quality Parameters, or either of 

them, shall fail to have been met, shall be reduced to R1-00 per tonne.ò 

 

b) The agreement further stipulated the CSA shall last until 31 December 

2018 and is referred to as the Additional Coal Period. 

 

Settlement of Arbitration and Second Addendum to the Hendrina Coal Supply 

Agreement between Eskom Holdings Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings Limited 

and Optimum Coal Mine (Proprietary) Limited 
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5.147. The details of the Second Addendum to the Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement 

(ñSecond Addendumò) are inter alia as follows: 

 

5.148. Eskom and OCM by way of arbitration both agreed to amend the CSA. 

 

5.149. The price payable by Eskom per tonne of coal would be R115.00 per tonne on an 

escalation basis as set out in the CSA. 

 
5.150. The intended commencement date would be 1 April 2011 

 

Third Addendum to the Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement amongst Eskom 

Holdings SOC Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings (Proprietary) Limited and 

Optimum Coal Mine (Proprietary) Limited 

 

5.151. The Third Addendum to the Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement (ñThird Addendumò) 

which came into effect as at 15 January 2013, allowed for the deletion of the 

provisions of clause 4.1 and clause 4.2 of the Second Addendum.  

 

5.152. There were no other material changes or additions made to the CSA. 

 

5.153. Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement: Sizing Specifications 

 

5.154. This is a letter between Optimum Coal Mine and Eskom dated 23 April 2013. The 

contents of the letter is as follows: 

 

5.155. Referenced is made to a letter received from Eskom dated 22 April 2013 in which 

Eskom expresses concerns regarding sizing specification in terms of the First 

Addendum.  
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5.156. OCM states that since discussions in September 2012 with Eskom, they have 

made attempts to identify the reason for the change in sizing of the coal being 

supplied. 

 

5.157. OCM therefore wished to renegotiate the specifications as per clause 3.4.4 and 

3.4.5 of the First Addendum. 

 

Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement: Hardship 

 

5.158. On 3 July 2013 OCM sent this letter to Eskom formally invoking the Hardship 

clause of the agreement. The contents of the letter is inter alia as follows: 

 

a) OCM further set out reasons for the hardship as well as the relevant 

circumstances which have arisen. 

 

b) OCM stated that the difference between the cost to produce coal and the selling 

price to Eskom is approximately R166.40. 

 

c) OCM further stated that it expects to lose R881 million during the course of 2013 

due to the sale of coal to Eskom in terms of the CSA. 

 

d) The letter further sets out the numerous reasons as to why the cost as escalated 

over the period of the CSA. 

 

e) OCM further states that they wish to agree mutually acceptable amendments to 

the CSA in order to resolve their hardship. 

 

f) According to representatives of OCH, a long negotiation process began with 

Eskom in order to resolve this dispute and come to a viable solution. Both Eskom 
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and OCH could not reach agreement on a number of issues. This culminated in 

the following agreement being signed. 

 

Agreement between Eskom Holdings SOC Limited and Optimum Coal Mine 

Proprietary Limited and Optimum Coal Holdings Proprietary Limited regarding a 

process to engage on issues between the parties and for the review and future 

extension of the Coal Supply Agreement for the Hendrina Power Station 

 

5.159. The purpose of the above agreement (ñCo-operation Agreementò) will be 

detailed in the ensuing paragraphs. 

 

5.160. Clause 2 of the agreement speaks of the ñissuesò that have arisen between the 

Parties. The issues are listed as: 

 

a) the interpretation, implementation and execution of the penalty provisions 

of the CSA; 

 

b) the interpretation, implementation and execution of the sampling process 

contemplated by the CSA; 

 

c) the quality of the coal supplied to Eskom and the price adjustment Eskom 

is entitled to impose in respect thereof; 

 

d) issues relating to the availability and utilisation of the supply infrastructure; 

 

e) the escalation mechanism in the CSA; 

 

f) the hardship arbitration initiated by Optimum Mine and Optimum Holdings 

against Eskom, in terms of which Optimum Mine and Optimum Holdings 

invoked the hardship provisions of the CSA; and 
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g) the supply from Optimum Mine to Eskom after 31 December 2018.ò 

 

5.161. Clause 5 of the sets out the terms and conditions under which the agreement 

should be carried out. The following terms are of particular importance: 

 

a) the Parties will instruct their attorneys to suspend the hardship arbitration 

on the following basis by no later than 23 May 2014; 

 

b) the suspension of the arbitration will be entirely without prejudice to the 

claim; 

 

c) notwithstanding the suspension of the arbitration, the Parties will arrange 

with the arbitrator and the Partyôs counsel to reserve the dates required for 

a hearing in March 2015 on the basis that if the parties agree Terms of 

Reference on or prior to the Validation Date (as defined below) then such 

dates can be released; 

 

d) if the Settlement Process is terminated on or before the Validation Date, 

then Optimum Mine may by notice in writing to Eskom immediately 

reinstate the hardship arbitration and the Parties will within two weeks 

meet to agree a revised timetable for the hardship arbitration with a March 

2015 hearing date; and 

 

e) If the Settlement Process is terminated at any other time, then Optimum 

may by notice in writing to Eskom immediately reinstate the hardship 

arbitration on the basis that the Parties will as soon as possible thereafter 

meet in order to agree a new timetable and hearing date for the hardship 

arbitration; 
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f) Eskom will, with retrospective effect to 1 May 2014 until the termination of 

the Settlement Process suspend the implementation of all penalties 

(including AI, CV, ash, sizing and short supply) in relation to the CSA, on 

the condition that Optimum Mine continues delivering coal in accordance 

with the specification to be agreed in the Terms of Reference; 

 

g) If the Parties are unable by the Validation Date to agree and execute 

Terms of Reference, each of the Parties shall be entitled to advise the 

other that it no longer wishes to participate in the Settlement Process in 

which case the Settlement Process shall terminate; 

 

h) The Parties agree that it is their current intention to conclude a new coal 

supply agreement which will govern the supply from Optimum Mine to 

Eskom from 1 January 2015; and 

 

i) The Co-operation Agreement was signed on 23 May 2014. 

 

Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement, letter dated 13 November 2014 

 

5.162. In letter dated 13 November 2014, OCM in essence informed Eskom of the 

following: 

 

a) The negotiations as per the Co-operation Agreement have not progressed 

adequately and at a sufficient pace and are thus considering shutting 

down OCMôs operations. 

 

b) The letter further gave Eskom proposed solutions whereby coal would be 

supplied to Eskom for the period January 2015 to December 2018 at cost 

and for the period January 2019 to December 2023 coal would be 

supplied at cost plus an agreed upon margin.  
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c) There were additional proposals made by OCM in the letter which sought 

to give Eskom some sort of economic benefit in renegotiating term. 

 

d) The letter further states that during these negotiation processes detailed 

financial information has been shared with Eskom in order for Eskom 

verify the costing information provided by OCM. 

 

e) In concluding, OCM further states: 

 

ñneither Eskom nor OCM can accept the highly damaging situation 

whereby OCM ceases operating. As a result, there is no option other than 

Eskom and OCM reaching agreement to amend the Hendrina coal supply 

agreement. OCM believes that Eskom understands this but is not willing to 

conclude an agreement because it has residual concerns regarding OCM 

and Glencoreôs bona fides and whether the position really is as severe as 

OCM has alleged. OCM believes that it has acted in the utmost good faith 

and with full transparency, beyond what would normally be expected from 

a commercial counterparty, to identify a solution which is fair and 

reasonable for both parties. This letter includes further proposals in this 

regard. If Eskom is still not satisfied, then we implore Eskom urgently to 

engage with us so that we can seek to address and resolve Eskomôs 

concerns and move towards an agreement.ò 

 

Draft Fourth Addendum to the Hendrina Coal Supply Agreement amongst Eskom 

Holdings SOC Limited and Optimum Coal Mining Proprietary Limited and 

Optimum Coal Holdings Proprietary Limited 

 

5.163. The Draft Addendum was concluded after negotiations between the parties 

progressed. It is evident from said draft addendum that alterations were made to 
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the document by Eskom and OCH/OCM. The key aspects of the Draft Addendum 

was that there would ultimately be a new negotiated price for the supply of coal. 

Furthermore, there would be new agreed upon specifications for the quality of coal 

to be supplied to the Hendrina Power Station. 

 

Minutes of Board Meeting 02-2015/16 held on 23 April 2015 Horseshow 

Boardroom, Eskom Bellville Offices, Cape Town from 09h00 

 

5.164. The following board members were present during said meeting: 

 

Name 
 

Appointment Date Position 

Zethembe Wilfred Khoza 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Nazia Carrim 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Venete Jarlene Klein 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Chwayita Mabude 2011-06-26 Non-Executive Director 

Devapushpum Naidoo 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Pathmanathan Naidoo 2014-12-11 Acting Chairman 

Baldwin Sipho Ngubane 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Mark Vivian Pamensky 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

Romeo Khumalo 2014-12-11 Non-Executive Director 

 

 
5.165. The following extracts of said meeting should be noted: 

 

a) The referral from the Board Tender Committee for approval of the 

mandate to conclude negotiations with Optimum Coal Mine for Coal 

Supply to Hendrina Power Station was tabled, details of which had been 

circulated to members. 

 

b) It was requested that the submission should be taken off the Agenda and 

submitted to the Acting CE before being tabled for approval. In response 

to a memberôs suggestion that Resolution 2.5 (around the mandate to 

negotiate but not to conclude with Optimum, for Eskom to take up a free 

carry shareholding of 10% to 15% equity and/or to engage with Optimum 












































































































































































































































































































































































































































